

The Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA): Background, Programs, and Funding

(name redacted)
Specialist in Social Policy

November 4, 2009

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov

R40899

Summary

Child abuse and neglect is a significant social concern. Children who experience abuse and/or neglect are more likely to have developmental delays and impaired language or cognitive skills; be identified as "problem" children (with attention difficulties or challenging behaviors); be arrested for delinquency, adult criminality, and violent criminal behavior; experience depression, anxiety, or other mental health problems as adults; engage in more health-risk behaviors as adults; and have poorer health outcomes as adults. Further, data from a nationally representative sample of children in families investigated for abuse or neglect show that as a whole—and without regard to whether a child protective services (CPS) investigator determines that abuse or neglect has occurred—children in families who come into contact with CPS agencies are at higher risk for poor development and behavior outcomes than children in the general population. In addition, that survey shows that these children live in families that often face challenges to their ability to care for and nurture their children, including trouble paying for basic necessities, low social support, and only one supportive caregiver in the family. In FY2007, states reported an estimated 3.5 million children were in families investigated or assessed by CPS workers and some 794,000 were identified as victims of abuse or neglect.

In 1974, Congress enacted the Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA, P.L. 93-247) to create a single federal focus for preventing and responding to child abuse and neglect. As a condition of receiving state grant funds under that act, states are required to have procedures in place for receiving and responding to allegations of abuse or neglect and for ensuring children's safety. Further, they must define child abuse and neglect in a way that is consistent with CAPTA, which defines the term as "at a minimum, any recent act or failure to act on the part of a parent or caretaker, which results in death, serious physical or emotional harm, sexual abuse or exploitation, or an act or failure to act which presents an imminent risk of serious harm."

Since its enactment, CAPTA has been reauthorized numerous times, most recently by the Keeping Children and Families Safe Act of 2003 (P.L. 108-36). Currently, it authorizes formula grants to states to help improve their child protective services; competitive grants and contracts for research, demonstration, and other activities related to better identifying, preventing, and treating child abuse and neglect; and formula grants to states for support of community-based child abuse and neglect prevention services. Funding authorization for these CAPTA programs expired with FY2008. However, Congress appropriated \$110 million for CAPTA in FY2009 (P.L. 111-8) and a similar amount has been proposed for FY2010 (H.R. 3293). In addition, CAPTA authorizes grants to improve the prosecution and handling of child abuse and neglect cases. These formula grants to states, commonly referred to as Children's Justice Act grants, are funded via an annual set-aside of up to \$20 million from the Crime Victims fund.

This report begins with discussion of the issue and scope of child abuse and neglect, followed by a discussion of the manner and scope of the work of the CPS agency in receiving and responding to allegations of child abuse or neglect, and then looks at some identified risk factors for poor child and family outcomes among all children in families investigated for abuse or neglect. Finally, it provides a detailed description of the current programs and activities authorized under CAPTA and discusses funding authorized and provided under CAPTA. This report will be updated as warranted.

Contents

Overview	1
Issue and Scope	2
Definition of Child Abuse and Neglect	3
Receiving and Screening Allegations of Child Abuse and Neglect	4
What Is an Investigation?	
What is Alternative Response?	6
Who Is Counted as a Victim?	6
Level of Evidence Required to Substantiate a Child Maltreatment Report	7
Who Is Counted as a Non-victim?	7
Children Found to Be Victims of Abuse or Neglect	8
Types of Child Maltreatment	9
Age and Race/Ethnicity of Child Maltreatment Victims	9
Post-investigation Services.	
Risk of Poor Child and Family Outcomes Among Families Where an Investigation of	
Abuse or Neglect Occurs	
Family and Caregiver Risk Factors	
Risk Factors Among Children	
CAPTA Grants and Activities	13
State Grants	15
Allowable Use of Funds	15
Requirements for Receipt of State Grant Funds	16
Distribution of State Grant Funds	21
Reported Use of Funds	23
Community-Based Grants to Prevent Child Abuse and Neglect	24
Allowable Use of Funds	24
Eligibility Requirements	
Distribution of Funds	
Research, Demonstration, and Other Activities	
Required Activities	
Permitted Activities	
Set Asides and Earmarks in the Appropriations Process	
Children's Justice Act Grants	
Use of Funds	
Eligibility Requirements	
Distribution of Funds	
Funding Authorized and Appropriated Under CAPTA	41
Title I Funding Authorization	42
Title II Funding Authorization	42
Figures	
Figure 1. Children Brought to the Attention of Public Child Welfare Agencies	3

Tables

Table 1. The Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA) At a Glance	14
Table 2. CAPTA State Grant Funding, By State	22
Table 3. Community-Based Grants for the Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect, FY2008 Awards	29
Table 4. Estimated FY2009 Children's Justice Act Awards, By State	40
Table 5. Funding Authorized and Appropriated Under CAPTA, FY1992-FY2009	43
Table A-1. Child Population and Number of Child Abuse or Neglect Referrals, Investigations, and Victims Reported by States, FY2007	44
Table B-1. Selected Developmental and Other Risk Factors for Children	46
Table B-2. Families Where a Child Abuse or Neglect Investigation Occurred By Presence of Certain Risk Factors and Post-investigation Service Level	47
Table C-1. National Estimates of Children Who Were the Subject of Child Maltreatment Investigations and Those Found to Be Victims, 1990-2007	48
Table C-2. Share of Children Reported as Experiencing Maltreatment, by Type	49
Table D-1. National Estimates of Children Served Following an Investigation of Child Abuse or Neglect	50
Appendixes	
Appendix A. Scope of State Child Protective Services Work	44
Appendix B. Child, Family, and Caregiver Risk Factors Among Children In Families Investigated for Child Abuse or Neglect	46
Appendix C. Trends in Reported Child Abuse and Neglect Victims and Types of Abuse or Neglect Experienced	48
Appendix D. Children Who Receive Post-investigation Services	50
Contacts	
Author Contact Information	51

Overview

Child abuse and neglect is a significant social concern. Children who experience abuse or neglect are more likely to have developmental delays and impaired language or cognitive skills; be identified as "problem" children (with attention difficulties or challenging behaviors); be arrested for delinquency, adult criminality, and violent criminal behavior; experience depression, anxiety, or other mental health problems as adults; engage in more health-risk behaviors as adults; and have poorer health outcomes as adults.¹

Between 1963 and 1967, every state and the District of Columbia enacted some form of child abuse and neglect reporting law to permit individuals to refer cases of suspected child abuse or neglect to a public agency. The rapid adoption of these laws was aided by a model reporting law disseminated by the Children's Bureau, which is housed within the Administration for Children and Families (ACF) at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). In 1974, Congress passed the Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA, P.L. 93-247) and state reporting laws were modified to conform to the standards it established. In creating CAPTA, Congress sought to increase understanding of child abuse and neglect and improve the response to its occurrence by establishing a single federal focal point on the issue. Since its enactment 35 years ago, the law has been reauthorized and amended numerous times, most recently by the Keeping Children and Families Safe Act of 2003 (P.L. 108-36). Currently, CAPTA authorizes:

- **State Grants**: Formula grants to states and territories to help improve their child protective service (CPS) systems, in exchange for which states must comply with various requirements related to the reporting, investigation, and treatment of child maltreatment cases. The FY2009 appropriation was \$26.5 million.
- *Discretionary Activities*: Federal data collection, dissemination, and technical assistance efforts related to child abuse prevention and treatment, as well as competitive grants to a range of eligible entities for research and demonstration projects or other activities related to the identification, prevention, and treatment of child abuse or neglect. The FY2009 appropriation was \$41.8 million (including a \$13.5 million set-aside for the ACF home visitation initiative, \$500,000 for a feasibility study related to a national child abuse and neglect

¹ John Stirling, Jr. and Lisa Amaya-Jackson, "Understanding the Behavioral and Emotional Consequences of Child Abuse," *Pediatrics*, vol. 122, No. 3, September 2008, pp. 667-673. Bessel A. van der Kolk, James Hopper, and Joseph Crozier, "Child Abuse in America: Prevalence and Consequences," *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment, and Trauma*, 2001. National Survey of Child and Adolescent Well-Being (NSCAW), "Need for Early Intervention Services Among Infants and Toddlers in Child Welfare," Research Brief No. 8, undated. NSCAW, "Adolescents Involved with Child Welfare: A Transition to Adulthood," Research Brief No. 11, undated. NSCAW briefs are available at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/opre/abuse_neglect/nscaw/#reports. Comparison groups used in these studies varied. For instance, the negative outcome may be more likely among child abuse and neglect victims when compared to the general population or when compared to a prospectively matched comparison group. In addition, the studies varied in how they defined/determined who experienced abuse or neglect. Further, some studies include in the group of "maltreated" children only those children for whom abuse or neglect was "substantiated," others include the larger group of children for whom abuse or neglect was "substantiated," others include the larger group of children for whom abuse or neglect was investigated, and still others may rely on a self-report of childhood abuse or neglect.

² Earlier legislation amending and/or reauthorizing funding for CAPTA includes P.L. 95-266 (1978); Title VI, Chapter 7 of P.L. 97-35 (1981); P.L. 98-457 (1984); P.L. 99-401 (1986); P.L. 100-294 (1988); P.L. 101-126 (1989); P.L. 102-295 (1992); and P.L. 104-235 (1996).

- offender registry, and \$2.4 million for other congressional projects designated in the Explanatory Statement accompanying the FY2009 appropriations bill).
- *Community-Based Grants:* Formula grants to each state and territory for support of community-based activities and services to prevent child abuse and neglect. The FY2009 appropriation was \$41.7 million.
- Children's Justice Act Grants: Formula grants to states and territories to improve
 investigation, prosecution, and handling of child maltreatment cases, particularly
 those cases related to child sexual abuse or exploitation. For FY2009, \$20 million
 was provided out of the federal Crime Victims Fund, including a \$3 million setaside for tribes.

Funding authorization for most grants or activities authorized under CAPTA expired with FY2008. However, as shown above, the Omnibus Appropriations Act, 2009 (P.L. 111-8) provided roughly \$110 million out of the general treasury for CAPTA grants and activities in FY2009. In addition, as required by the Victims of Crime Act (P.L. 93-247, as amended), \$20 million was set aside from the Crime Victims Fund for grants to improve the investigation, prosecution, and handling of child abuse and neglect cases (commonly referred to as "Children's Justice Act grants"). FY2010 appropriations legislation (H.R. 3293) pending in Congress would provide roughly the same CAPTA funding for FY2010 and, again, an additional \$20 million is expected to be available from the Crime Victims Fund.

Issue and Scope

Children depend on adults to meet their physical needs, foster their social and emotional development, and, in so doing, nurture their growth into adulthood. For most children, their parents are both capable and committed to providing this necessary care and support. For some, however, this is not true. Any person who knows or suspects that a child is being abused or neglected may contact child protective services (CPS) with this information. Local CPS agencies are called on to screen these referrals, investigate or assess the allegations as warranted, and identify children in need of additional services. In carrying out this job, CPS workers must discern the difference between children whose home situations are safe, those whose homes may be made safe if additional supports and services are provided, and those for whom removal—even if temporary—is necessary for the children's protection.

This first part of this report includes a discussion of definitions of child abuse and neglect and a description of how CPS agencies receive and respond to allegations of child abuse and neglect. Tasks done by CPS workers are described, including the manner in which children are ultimately counted as "victims" or "non-victims" of child abuse or neglect. It continues with a look at certain demographic characteristics of children found to be victims and a brief description of services provided to children and their families following a child abuse or neglect investigation. Finally, this part of the report concludes with a short review of some risk factors for poor child outcomes that are seen disproportionately in children whose families are investigated for abuse or neglect, and lists some circumstances prevalent among the families or caregivers of these children that may also put these children at risk for poor outcomes.

CPS agencies are sometimes referred to as the "front-end" of the child welfare services continuum. The number of children and families who come to the attention of CPS each year is far greater than the number of children found to be victims of child abuse or neglect and the even

smaller number of children who are placed in foster care. **Figure 1** shows the scope of children and families who come in contact with the CPS/child welfare agency.

Figure 1. Children Brought to the Attention of Public Child Welfare Agencies

Reflects national estimates or counts based on state reported data for FY2007



5.8 million

Referred to child protective services because of alleged child abuse and neglect.



3.5 million

Subject of child abuse or neglect investigation or assessment (remainder of children referred are "screened out").



Received some service after the investigation, both victims and non-victims (1.1 million served in the home; 269,000 removed from their homes).



Found by investigation/assessment to be a victim of child abuse or neglect (297,000 - no further service; 333,000 - served in the home following the investigation; and 164,000 - removed from their homes).



Spent at least 24 hours in foster care (including children in care before the fiscal year began and those who entered care during the fiscal year due to abuse, neglect, or other reasons).



Remained in foster care on the last day of the fiscal year.

Source: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Child Maltreatment 2007 (April 2009); and FY2007 data reported by states via the Adoption and Foster Care Analysis Reporting System (AFCARS).

Definition of Child Abuse and Neglect

Child abuse and neglect is defined in CAPTA as "at a minimum, any recent act or failure to act on the part of a parent or caretaker, which results in death, serious physical or emotional harm, sexual abuse or exploitation, or an act or failure to act which presents an imminent risk of serious harm." States that receive state grant funds under CAPTA must define "child abuse and neglect" to be consistent with this federal definition. All states receive CAPTA state grant funds and many

-

³ Section 111(2) of CAPTA. See also Section 111(4) of CAPTA for a more extensive definition of "sexual abuse."

states have developed more detailed definitions of child abuse and neglect, which is sometimes referred to as child maltreatment. 4 Typically, these definitions elaborate on the meaning of different types of maltreatment, including (1) physical abuse, generally involving non-accidental physical injury to the child and, in some states, substantial threat of injury; (2) neglect, including failure to provide necessary food, clothing, shelter, medical care, or supervision and, typically, for reasons other than economic inability to do so; (3) sexual abuse/exploitation; and (4) emotional abuse or mental injury. Some states also incorporate specific language defining other forms of abuse and neglect, including, for example, abandonment, or harming or exposing a child to harm because of substance abuse or the manufacture of a controlled substance. 5 Consistent with the federal definition in CAPTA, many state child abuse and neglect definitions also specify that a finding of child abuse or neglect may only occur if the perpetrator of the maltreatment is a parent or caregiver of the child.⁶ In FY2007, 80% of the perpetrators in substantiated abuse or neglect cases were one or both of the child's parents, 5% were other relatives of the child, and 3% were the unmarried partner of the parent. Other types of non-parent caregivers (e.g., foster parents, residential facility staff, and legal guardians) typically represented less than one-half of 1%, each, of the perpetrators of child abuse or neglect.⁷

Receiving and Screening Allegations of Child Abuse and Neglect

States are required under the CAPTA state grant program to have a statewide law or program in effect that includes procedures for receiving and screening referrals of known or suspected child abuse and neglect, and procedures for investigating them as appropriate. In FY2007, child protective services agencies received 3.2 million allegations of abuse or neglect concerning an estimated 5.8 million children. More than one-third of the allegations (38%) were "screened out" and no investigation followed. However, investigations or assessments were conducted with regard to the majority of allegations received (62%), involving some 3.5 million children. Of these children, an estimated 794,000 were determined to be victims of child abuse or neglect—or roughly 11 children per 1,000 children in the population. 8 (For data on the number of referrals, investigations, and victims of child abuse by state, see **Appendix A**.)

Any person can make a child abuse and neglect allegation to CPS. Most states require certain individuals (e.g., health personnel, teachers, police officers, lawyers, and workers at social service agencies) to report any instance of known or suspected child abuse or neglect. 9 Individuals may make reports of abuse or neglect to local law enforcement or a local CPS agency, and states typically operate a 24-hour hotline to receive this information as well. Under the CAPTA state

⁹ Child Welfare Information Gateway, Mandatory Reporters of Child Abuse and Neglect: Summary of State Laws, January 2008, http://www.childwelfare.gov/systemwide/laws_policies/statutes/mandaall.pdf.

⁴ In this report the terms "child maltreatment" and "child abuse and neglect" are used interchangeably.

⁵ Child Welfare Information Gateway, "Definitions of Child Abuse and Neglect: Summary of State Laws," State Statutes Series, current as of April 2007, http://www.childwelfare.gov/systemwide/laws_policies/statutes/defineall.pdf.

⁶ Abuse or exploitation of children that is perpetrated by a "stranger" or someone who is not directly responsible for the child's care may be handled by law enforcement agencies as a criminal matter. For related information, see CRS Report RL34050, Missing and Exploited Children: Background, Policies, and Issues, by Adrienne L. Fernandes.

⁷ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), Administration for Children and Families, *Child Maltreatment* 2007, April 2009, p. 29, http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/pubs/cm07/; (Hereinafter, HHS, Child Maltreatment 2007). Data on the relationship of the perpetrator of child abuse or neglect to the victim was missing for about 10% of the victims reported by states.

⁸ HHS, Child Maltreatment 2007, Table 5-3.

grant program, states must have procedures for cross-agency cooperation and states have policies (often in statute) regarding how information is to be shared across these entities. ¹⁰ States or localities also develop their own rules for when an allegation of child abuse or neglect will be "screened out." For example, these might include—when the allegation received does not meet the state's definition of child abuse or neglect or does not include enough information to permit an investigation or assessment to occur; when the children in the referral were determined to be the responsibility of another agency or jurisdiction (e.g., a military installation or a tribe); or when the alleged victim was older than 18. If an allegation is screened out, there is generally no additional CPS response, although, in a limited number of localities, information on screened-out allegations may be referred to community-based groups for possible follow-up. ¹¹ By contrast, when an allegation is "screened-in," it is called a "report" and a CPS investigation or assessment follows.

Among the child abuse and neglect referrals screened in for investigation or assessment in FY2007, 58% were made by professionals—that is, individuals who encountered the alleged child victim as part of their job. These professionals, who, as noted earlier, may be required under state law to report known or suspected abuse or neglect, included education personnel, who were the source of 17% of all reports investigated; legal, law enforcement, or criminal justice personnel (16%); social services personnel (10%); medical personnel (8%); mental health personnel (4%); and foster care or child day care providers (2%). Reports made by non-professionals in FY2007 included those made by anonymous individuals (8% of all reports investigated), relatives (7%), parent(s) (6%), and friends or neighbors of the child (5%). ¹²

What Is an Investigation?

Typically, a single investigation involves more than one child. The number and rate of children who are the subject of a child abuse and neglect investigation trended upward between 1990 and 2004, but has remained relatively flat since that year. Annually, about 3.5 million to 3.6 million children are the subject of CPS investigations or assessments; this translates to a rate of roughly 48 children being the subject of an investigation (or assessment) for every 1,000 in the population.

The primary focus of an investigation is a determination concerning the safety of a child. The CPS investigator must assess risk to the child in the home—both whether abuse or neglect has already happened and whether it might occur. In addition to this task, a 2005-2006 national survey of local CPS agencies found that nearly every agency required investigators to make a separate determination of whether any other children in the family were maltreated (98%). A very large majority of these agencies (92%) also required the investigator to make an assessment of service needs of the child during the investigation and, separately, to make a recommendation for court intervention if needed. Finally, in roughly three-fourths of the local CPS agencies surveyed,

¹⁰ Child Welfare Information Gateway, *Cross-Reporting Among Responders to Child Abuse and Neglect: Summary of State Laws*, December 2007, http://www.childwelfare.gov/systemwide/laws_policies/statutes/xreportingall.pdf .

¹¹ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) and Administration for Children and Families (ACF), *National Study of Child Protective Services Systems and Reform Efforts: Summary Report*, May 2003, pp. 3-6; HHS, *Child Maltreatment 2007*, p. 5.

¹² HHS, *Child Maltreatment 2007*, Figure 2-1. Percentages may not sum to the total because of rounding. States reported "other" as the source for 9% of the investigated referrals, the source was unknown or missing in 7% of the cases. Additional investigated referrals were made by alleged victims (0.6%) and alleged perpetrators (0.1%).

investigators were required to provide short-term services to the family as necessary (during the investigation) and to refer the family for further (post-investigation) services if needed.

In making these determinations and assessments, local CPS agencies commonly instruct investigators to review any prior CPS records relevant to the family; visit the family without making an appointment; discuss the case with other CPS workers; and interview relevant individuals, such as family members other than the caregiver, professionals known to the family, witnesses, and/or the person who made the report of abuse or neglect. Other investigation activities might include conducting a criminal background check on the alleged perpetrator, conducting family group conference meetings, and discussing the case with a multi-disciplinary team. ¹³

What is Alternative Response?

Some states (or localities) have implemented a system of "alternative" or "differential" response. In these places, reports of abuse or neglect where children are deemed (at the screening stage) *not* at imminent risk of harm or at lower risk may be referred for alternative response rather than investigation. An alternative response focuses primarily on assessing family strengths and needs to ensure children's safety. In many localities, referral to an alternative response precludes a formal determination that abuse or neglect occurred (or didn't occur).¹⁴

A 2005-2006 survey of local CPS agencies found that 39% had implemented some form of "alternative" or "differential" response. ¹⁵ That survey found that in the large majority of those agencies, workers providing an alternative response were required to follow standard practices. These included making assessments of the underlying causes of the alleged maltreatment (a standard practice at 84% of the surveyed agencies), the service needs of the family (86%), and the service needs of the child(ren) (86%). Most local CPS agencies (71%) also required the worker providing an alternative response to refer the family for further services if needed. Activities conducted as part of alternative response typically included interviews with caregiver(s) of the child(ren); interviews with (or formal observation of) the child(ren); and discussion of the case with other CPS workers. They might also include a visit to the family by appointment. ¹⁶

Who Is Counted as a Victim?

In FY2007, HHS estimates that 794,000 children experienced child abuse or neglect, based on reports from state CPS agencies. The annual number of children reported as victims of child abuse and neglect by HHS includes all children for whom a CPS investigator "substantiates" that

¹³ Westat, Inc., *Recent Trends in Local Child Protective Services Practices*, prepared for HHS, ASPE, July 2009, pp. 10-19. (Hereinafter, Westat, *Recent Trends in Local Child Protective Services Practices*, July 2009)

¹⁴ Gila Shusterman, et al., *Alternative Responses to Child Maltreatment: Findings from NCANDS*, prepared for HHS, ASPE, July 2005, pp. 1-3; Lisa Merkel-Holguin et al., *National Study on Differential Response in Child Welfare*, November 2006, pp. 10-11.

¹⁵ Westat, *Recent Trends in Local Child Protective Services Practices*, July 2009, pp. 1-3. This represents a significant decline from the 69% of local CPS agencies that indicated use of alternative response in a similar 2002 survey of CPS agencies. Researchers suggest the decrease may reflect a better understanding by local agencies of what an alternative response system is and, thus, a more accurate reporting of whether the local CPS actually has such a system. They note that among agencies indicating that they had an alternative response system, there was greater uniformity in practice.

¹⁶ Ibid. pp.13-17.

abuse or neglect occurred, as well as children for whom the investigator determines that the abuse or neglect is "indicated" and those coded by states as an "alternative response victim." All states report on substantiated victims of child abuse and neglect and the very large majority of children who are counted as victims (close to 96% in FY2007) had an investigation finding of "substantiated." A few states (four in FY2007) also report the number of children for whom abuse or neglect was "indicated." In these states, a CPS investigator who suspects that the child may have been maltreated (or is at risk of maltreatment) but is unable to substantiate this under the rules of evidence (see below) or the definition of abuse or neglect in the state may determine that child maltreatment is "indicated." For FY2007, four states reported that 15,000 children had an investigation determination of "indicated." Finally, although provision of alternative response typically precludes an abuse or neglect finding, two states reported in FY2007 that 16,000 children were "alternative response victims." ¹⁷

Level of Evidence Required to Substantiate a Child Maltreatment Report

In determining whether to "substantiate" a child abuse or neglect report, a CPS investigator must consider how child abuse and neglect is defined in the state, as well as the level of evidence required by the state to make such a determination. ¹⁸ In FY2007, 20 states required investigators to make a "reasonable" determination or to have credible evidence that a child had been abused or neglected before formally substantiating a child abuse or neglect report; more states (27) used a somewhat stricter level of evidence, requiring investigators to find that a "preponderance" of evidence supported a determination that a child was a victim of abuse or neglect; and two states required the most rigorous standard of "clear or convincing evidence." States with the least restrictive level of evidence had an average child maltreatment victim rate of more than 13 in FY2007, those using a somewhat more strict level of evidence had a victim rate of just below 10, and those with the most restrictive level of evidence had a victim rate just below 2.

Who Is Counted as a Non-victim?

Among all children who were the subject of a child abuse and neglect investigation in FY2007, HHS estimates that about 2.7 million were "non-victims." Children are counted as "non-victims" if they are the subject of a CPS investigation and the investigation does not conclude that they were a substantiated, indicated, or alternative response victim of abuse or neglect. For most "non-victims" (72% in FY2007), this means the CPS investigation concluded with a determination that abuse or neglect was "unsubstantiated." ²¹ This finding category is used by all states but is often not defined. It is commonly understood to mean that there was not sufficient evidence under state law to conclude that the child was maltreated or was at risk of maltreatment. There is a growing

¹⁷ HHS, *Child Maltreatment 2007*, based on Table 3-1. The total number of state-reported victims in FY2007 was 753,357. However, two states, Maryland and Michigan, did not report the number of child abuse and neglect victims for FY2007. HHS derived the national estimate of 794,000 victims by applying the average victim rate in all reporting states to the child populations in Maryland and Michigan, adding that number to the reported child victims, and rounding to the nearest thousand.

¹⁸ National Survey of Child and Adolescent Well-Being (NSCAW), *How Do Caseworker Judgments Predict Substantiation of Child Maltreatment*, Research Brief No. 6, undated.

¹⁹ HHS, Child Maltreatment 2007, pp. 125-159

²⁰ "Average" child maltreatment rate for each group of states was determined by comparing the child population in the given group of states to the number of victims in that same group of states.

²¹ HHS, Child Maltreatment 2007, based on Table 3-1.

body of evidence suggesting that the difference between children for whom an abuse or neglect case is substantiated as opposed to unsubstantiated may be more a matter of degree than absolute difference. As noted above, states that require stronger levels of evidence tend to have lower rates of substantiation. Further, as discussed later, children in families who are investigated for abuse or neglect, in general, exhibit greater developmental and other risk factors than do children in the general population, and many children who are not found to be victims of abuse or neglect receive post-investigation services nonetheless.

There are a variety of additional "non-victim" finding categories reported by states. More than 1 in 10 "non-victims" (13% in FY2007) had a finding of "no alleged maltreatment." This may be the result of an increasing number of states in which all children living in the home of a child for whom an abuse or neglect case is reported are viewed as subjects of the investigation. Thus, this group of non-victims is presumed to be siblings of children for whom abuse or neglect was investigated and for whom a victim determination was not made. A smaller percentage of "non-victims" (less than 8% in FY2007) are reported as having been served by an "alternative response" and with no finding of child maltreatment. (Only 11 states reported data in this category in FY2007.) "Non-victims" also include children for whom the case was "closed with no finding." In FY2007, 23 states reported "non-victims" in this category, and they represented less than 2% of "non-victims." Generally, "closed with no finding" means that the agency could not complete the investigation (e.g., because the family could not be located). Finally, in a very small number of instances (less than one-half of 1% of children subject to an investigation), the allegations of abuse or neglect are found to be "intentionally false" by the CPS investigator. 22

Children Found to Be Victims of Abuse or Neglect

The number and rate of children who were found to be victims of child maltreatment peaked in the early to mid 1990s when roughly 1 million children were reported to be victims of child abuse or neglect annually. From the later 1990s through FY2006, roughly 900,000 children were reported in each year to be victims of abuse or neglect; this translated to a rate of roughly 12 victims of child maltreatment for every 1,000 children in the population. For FY2007, however, the number of reported child maltreatment victims declined to 794,000—or less than 11 victims for every 1,000 children in the population.

HHS attributes the decline in the number of victims reported in FY2007 to (1) an increase in the number of children with the investigation/assessment finding of "other" (these children are not counted as victims); (2) a decrease in the number of children with findings of "substantiated" or "indicated" (these children are counted as victims); and (3) a decrease in the number of children who received an investigation or assessment. ²³ The reason for all of these changes is not entirely clear. However, some states reported differences in how they collected and/or reported child maltreatment data for FY2007, and these changes may be largely responsible for the change in the national number of child maltreatment reports and of victims. ²⁴ (For a table showing, on a

²² Ibid.

²³ Ibid, p. 24.

²⁴ For example, see comments on data collection or reporting changes, made by some states for FY2007, including Florida, which no longer uses the category "indicated" in reporting child abuse and neglect case determinations (p. 130); Louisiana, which cites population displacement by Hurricane Katrina as a reason for lower numbers of investigations (pp. 135-137); and New Jersey, which no longer reports "at-risk alternative response non-victim assessments" (p. 144).

national basis, the number and rate of children who were the subject of a child abuse or neglect investigation, see **Appendix C**.)

Types of Child Maltreatment

Children experience neglect far more than any other type of maltreatment. Among the 794,000 children counted as victims of child abuse or neglect in FY2007, 59% were reported as having experienced neglect only (including medical neglect), about 11% were reported as victims of physical abuse only, and less than 8% were reported as victims of sexual abuse only. In addition, about 13% were found to have experienced two or more types of maltreatment (e.g., the child experienced both neglect and physical abuse). There has been a decline in the reported rates of physical abuse and sexual abuse over roughly the past 15 years. ²⁵ (For a table showing trends in the share of child victims by maltreatment type, see **Appendix C**.)

Age and Race/Ethnicity of Child Maltreatment Victims

States report the highest rates of child maltreatment among young children and among children who are African-American, American Indian/Alaska Native, or reported as being of two or more races.

Infants and young children are the least able to care for and protect themselves and are more likely to be determined victims of child abuse or neglect than are older children. In FY2007, nearly 22 infants (children under the age of one year) were found to be victims of child maltreatment for every 1,000 infants in the population. By contrast, for FY2007, the child maltreatment rate reported for children ages one or two years was sharply below that of infants, at 13 for every 1,000 children of that age in the population; for three to seven years olds, the comparable rate was just below 12; for eight to 15 year olds, it was roughly nine; and for 16 and 17 year olds, it was five.

The 1st, 2nd, and 3rd National Incidence Surveys, which studied the incidence of child abuse and neglect in the general population, found no direct link between race and child maltreatment; however, certain racial groups are disproportionately likely to be counted as victims of child abuse and neglect. ²⁶Across all race/ethnicities, less than 11 out of every 1,000 children in the population were reported by states as victims of child abuse or neglect in FY2007. However, the comparable rates for African Americans (16.7), American Indian/Alaska Native children (14.2), and children of two or more races (14.0) are higher than this overall rate, while the rates for white (9.1) and Hispanic children (10.3) are somewhat lower, and the rate for Asian children (2.4) is much lower.

There are a variety of theories about why some children of color might be overrepresented in the child welfare system more generally, including disproportionate need (data show children of color are more likely to live in poor or single-parent homes, both of which have been associated with

²⁵ David Finkelhor. *Childhood Victimization: Violence, Crime, and Abuse in the Lives of Young People* (New York: Oxford University Press, 2008).

²⁶ Cited in John Fluke, Ying-Ying Yuan, et al., "Disproportionate Representation of Race and Ethnicity in Child Maltreatment: Investigation and Victimization," *Children and Youth Services* 25 (2003)5/6, pp. 359-374. A fourth NIS has recently been fielded but findings have not yet been made available.

²⁷ HHS, Child Maltreatment, 2007.

higher rates of child abuse or neglect); disproportionate attention (they come into contact with social service or other workers who notice and may be required to report suspected maltreatment); biased decision-making (they are more likely to be referred to CPS by those workers than are other children); and fewer community resources (they live in communities with fewer family support or other needed services). ²⁸ These theories are not necessarily mutually exclusive and, to the extent they are true, might operate differently in different locations.

Post-investigation Services

As discussed earlier, roughly three-fourths of all CPS agencies nationwide require investigators to provide short-term services to families, as needed, during child abuse and neglect investigations, and also to refer families for post-investigation services if needed.²⁹ Post-investigation services most often offered to families were parenting classes and substance abuse programs. Less frequently offered services included marital counseling, family system therapy, grief counseling, advocacy services, dental exams, homemaker/chore services, employment services, and financial planning.³⁰

In recent years, roughly one in five of all children found to be victims of child abuse or neglect were removed from their homes within 90 days of the investigation. During that same time period, about two in five children found to be victims of abuse or neglect received some services while they remained living in their homes, and the remaining two in five identified victims did not receive any additional services following the close of the investigation. A child maltreatment victim may not receive post-investigation services if the child's and family's needs were met during the investigation. Others may not be served because services are not available or the waiting list for them is very long. Finally, children who are not found to be victims of abuse or neglect may nonetheless be determined to be in need of post-investigation services. In recent years, roughly one out of four "non-victims" received some services following an investigation (while they remained in their home) and a small percentage were removed from their homes. (For a table estimating receipt of post-investigation services, nationally, by a child's status as "victim" or "non-victim," see **Appendix D**.)

²⁸ See U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, *Children of Color in the Child Welfare System: Perspectives from the Child Welfare Community*, December 2003; Barbara Needall, et al., "Black Children in Foster Care and Placement in California," *Children and Youth Services Review* 25 (2003), pp. 393-408; A.M. Hines et al., "Factors Related to Disproportionate Involvement of Children of Color in the Child Welfare System: A Review of Emerging Themes," *Children and Youth Services Review* 26 (2004), pp. 505-527; and Robert B. Hill, *Synthesis of Research on Disproportionality in Child Welfare: An Update*, Casey-CSSP Alliance for Racial Equity in the Child Welfare System, October 2006.

²⁹ Westat, *Recent Trends in Local Child Protective Services Practices*, July 2009, pp. 12-13. See also HHS, *Child Maltreatment* 2007, p. 79.

³⁰ Westat, Recent Trends in Local Child Protective Services Practices, July 2009, pp. 19-20.

³¹ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), Administration for Children and Families, *Child Maltreatment 2006*, April 2008, pp. 85-87, http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/pubs/cm06/.

Risk of Poor Child and Family Outcomes Among Families Where an Investigation of Abuse or Neglect Occurs

In recent years, CPS workers have conducted roughly 1.9 to 2.0 million child abuse or neglect investigations (or assessments) annually, typically involving as many as 3.5 or 3.6 million children. Findings from a nationally representative survey of children in families investigated for abuse or neglect show that this population is at risk of poor child and family outcomes, regardless of whether the investigation determines the child to be a victim.³²

Family and Caregiver Risk Factors

Many families visited by CPS workers face challenges to their stability, which might limit their ability to nurture and adequately support their children. Caseworkers reported that more than half of the families (54%) included in the nationally representative survey of children in families investigated for abuse or neglect had only one supportive caregiver in the home, close to onethird (31%) were assessed as having low social support, and nearly one-quarter had trouble paying for basic necessities. Caseworkers also identified poor parenting, serious mental health problems, domestic violence, and abuse of alcohol and drugs as issues facing significant numbers of families investigated for abuse or neglect. Notably, many of these families had prior contact with CPS. A little more than half (51%) had been the subject of prior reports of abuse or neglect, one-quarter had a prior incident of substantiated child abuse and neglect, and close to 30% had previously been served by the child welfare agency (not including investigation as a service). 33 The percentages cited here represent the share of risk factors among all families where an investigation occurred. In general, the share of families experiencing these risk factors was higher among those who received services following the investigation and was highest among families where a child was removed from the home following the investigation. (See Appendix B for a table showing the percentage of families/caregivers that experienced these risk factors, as assessed by the CPS investigator, based on level of service subsequently received.)

Not surprisingly, high cumulative caregiver/parent risk factors (as assessed by the CPS investigator) predicted placement in out-of-home care or receipt of services while the child remained in the home. (Findings displayed in this report did not show presence of risk factors by whether or not a child was determined to have been a substantiated victim of abuse or neglect.) In addition, investigative caseworkers most often cited two factors, a "reasonable level of caregiver cooperation" and "child's inability to self protect," as critical in their decision-making process. Caregiver cooperation was especially influential in cases where a CPS worker decided the child should remain at home. A child's inability to self protect was most significant in decision-making

-

³² The National Survey of Child and Adolescent Well-Being (NSCAW) includes a nationally representative sample of children in families investigated for abuse or neglect. The initial survey was fielded in 1999-2000 and four follow-up "waves" of data collection (between 2001 and 2006) provided longitudinal data from the same families. Most of the findings discussed in this report are from the initial survey. More information on NSCAW and related research briefs is available on the website of the Office for Planning, Research and Evaluation (OPRE), Administration for Children and Families (ACF), HHS at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/opre/abuse_neglect/nscaw/.

³³ NSCAW, CPS Sample Component Wave 1 Data Analysis Report, April 2005, Chapter 4. (Hereinafter, NSCAW, CPS Sample, Wave 1, April 2005)

with regard to younger children. For older children, however, investigative caseworkers cited the importance of the child's special health or other needs.³⁴

Risk Factors Among Children

Children in families investigated for abuse or neglect exhibit a greater risk for developmental delays and behavior problems than do children in the general population. This higher risk appears to exist across the range of children in families investigated for abuse and neglect and is not necessarily limited to those families in which the allegation of abuse or neglect is "substantiated" or to those children who are removed from their homes following an investigation.

School-age children who were in families investigated for abuse or neglect were at least twice as likely as children in the general population to be identified (using a standardized checklist) as having clinical or borderline clinical levels of problem behavior. In addition, they scored comparatively lower on reading and (especially) math scores, and social and living skills, and exhibited higher levels of depression. ³⁵

Under CAPTA, states are required to have procedures in place to refer children who are found to be substantiated victims of child abuse or neglect for screening under the Part C, early intervention services, program that is part of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).³⁶ Analyzing survey data among the nationally representative sample of children in families investigated for abuse or neglect, researchers determined that as many as 34% of the youngest children in these families (those under age three) *had a developmental delay* that would qualify them for special education services under the eligibility criteria used in most states for the Part C program. The comparable percentages among the general population for children with developmental delay is 2% to 23%, depending on the study used.³⁷

The researchers also found that the presence of developmental delay was not limited to young children who were determined to be victims of child abuse and neglect. Rather, they reported: "Children with unsubstantiated reports [of child abuse or neglect] (38%) were significantly more likely than children with substantiated reports (28%) to be in need of Part C services due to developmental delay or an established medical condition." At the same time, they noted that children with unsubstantiated reports of child abuse or neglect were less likely to receive services than children substantiated as victims of abuse or neglect. The degree to which the child welfare agency should play a role in service access for all children it investigates, regardless of substantiation status, is an important area for future research and policy consideration, the researchers stated. ³⁸ (For tables showing prevalence of certain risk factors among children in

³⁴ Ibid, pp. 4-15 through 4-22.

³⁵ NSCAW, *Children's Cognitive and Socioemotional Development and Their Receipt of Special Educational and Mental Health Services*, Research Brief No. 3 (undated).

³⁶ This requirement was added during the last reauthorization of CAPTA (P.L. 108-36, 2003). A companion provision was also included in the 2004 reauthorization of IDEA (P.L. 108-446).

³⁷ NSCAW, *Need for Early Intervention Services Among Infants and Toddlers in Child Welfare*, NSCAW Research Brief No. 8 (undated). The initial survey data were collected in 1999-2000. Following these same families over the next three years, researchers found that the share of children who qualified for special education services (under either Part C or Part B of IDEA, depending on child's age) increased (at 18 and 36 months after the initial survey).

families investigated for child abuse and neglect, and, separately, family or caregiver risk factors in that population, see **Appendix B**.)

The remainder of this report discusses grants programs and other activities authorized by CAPTA, including the funding provided and authorized for them.

CAPTA Grants and Activities

The well-being of children is the subject of a range of federal programs that are collectively referred to as "child welfare" programs.³⁹ The primary goals of federal child welfare programs are to ensure the safety of children; to enable them to be part of strong, permanent families; and, in doing this, to foster the well-being of children and their families. CAPTA is the only federal child welfare program focused solely on preventing child abuse or neglect as well as responding to allegations of abuse or neglect. As such, it is a critical piece of federal child welfare policy related to ensuring children's safety. In addition, efforts to prevent child abuse or neglect or to ensure that children may safely remain in a home where child abuse or neglect has been alleged are critical to the goal of permanence. The remainder of this report discusses activities authorized and required under CAPTA and funds provided. **Table 1** provides a snapshot of the programs or activities authorized under CAPTA, including use of funds, requirements, and funding.

³⁹ Based on funding levels, the largest federal child welfare programs are authorized under the Social Security Act, including the Title IV-E (Foster Care, Adoption Assistance, and Kinship Guardianship Assistance) programs and the Title IV-B (Child and Family Services) programs. For a brief description of all federal child welfare programs, see CRS Report RL34121, *Child Welfare: Recent and Proposed Federal Funding*, by (name redacted).

Table I. The Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA) At a Glance

Program or Activity	Use of Funds and Related Requirements	Funding and Current Distribution Practice	
State Grants to Improve Child Protective Services (Section 106 of CAPTA)	Funds are provided to state child welfare agencies and may be used to improve its system of child protective services (CPS). To receive these funds, a state must provide assurances that it has procedures or policies (1) to receive and respond to allegations of child abuse or neglect, ensure children's safety, and provide appropriate referrals; (2) for the appointment of an appropriately trained guardian ad litem (attorney or volunteer) for each child victim involved in a court proceeding; (3) to maintain confidentiality of child abuse and neglect records; and (4) for improving training to workers. States are also required to establish and support Citizen Review Panels to evaluate the effectiveness of CPS policies and practices and must, "to the maximum extent practicable," submit certain child abuse and neglect data to HHS each year. For FY2008, states, as a whole, planned to spend about half of these funds (48%) for prevention related services, a little less than that (44%) for investigations and related services, 5% for training, and the remainder for intensive family preservation or efforts to reunite children with their parents.	FY2009 funding was \$26.5 million. Funding authorization (under Section 112 of CAPTA) expired with FY2008 but Congress has continued annual funding. Each eligible state receives a base allotment of \$50,000; remaining funds are distributed in proportion to each state's relative share of the child population among all eligible states. The median grant in FY2009 was \$367,000.	
Research, Demonstration, and Technical Assistance (Sections 101-105 of CAPTA)	Funds are awarded competitively to support an ongoing research program and other work related to better identifying, preventing, and treating child abuse and neglect and for required federal efforts to collect and disseminate child abuse and neglect data, operate an information clearinghouse, and provide technical assistance related to child abuse and neglect prevention and treatment. A few of the projects and activities currently funded (in whole or part) include the Child Welfare Information Gateway website, annual publication of <i>Child Maltreatment</i> , the National Resource Center for Child Protective Services, the National Quality Improvement Center on Differential Response, and the initiative on Supporting Evidence-Based Home Visitation to Prevent Child Maltreatment.	FY2009 funding for these activities was \$41.8 million. Funding authorization (under Section 112 of CAPTA) expired with FY2008 but Congress has continued annual funding. Funds are awarded by HHS via grants, contracts, or cooperative agreements.	
Community- Based Grants for the Prevention of Child Abuse or Neglect (Title II of CAPTA)	Funds are provided to a designated lead entity in each state for support and development of community-based programs and activities that prevent child abuse and neglect. The lead entity must make an inventory of unmet preventive services needs in the state, foster a continuum of family support and strengthening services at the community level, leverage non-federal funds to support prevention programs and activities, and provide technical assistance to funded community-based groups. Community-based groups that receive sub-grants from the lead entity must provide, directly or by referral, core family resource and family support services. These services include parent education and parent mutual support groups, community and social service referrals, voluntary home visiting, and respite care.	FY2009 funding was \$41.7 million. Funding authorization (under Section 210 of CAPTA) expired with FY2008 but Congress has continued annual funding. Seventy percent of the funding is allotted to a state in proportion to its share of the child population, except that no state may receive less than \$200,000. The remaining 30% is distributed to a state based on its share of the total pot of nonfederal funds leveraged by states for use under this program. The median grant in FY2009 was \$567,000.	

Program or Activity	Use of Funds and Related Requirements	Funding and Current Distribution Practice
"Children's Justice Act" Grants	Funds are made available to each state to improve systems related to the investigation, prosecution, and overall handling of child abuse and neglect cases with particular focus on cases involving	FY2009 funding was \$20 million (of which \$3 million was reserved for tribal use).
(Section 107 of CAPTA)	child sexual abuse and exploitation, child abuse or neglect related fatalities, or maltreatment of children with disabilities. To receive these funds, a state must establish a multi-disciplinary task force to study state administrative, judicial, and investigative	Up to \$20 million in funding is required to be set aside annually from the Crime Victims Fund (Sections 1402(d) and 1404A of
	practice related to child abuse and neglect cases; receive recommendations from this taskforce in the initial year that grants are funded (and every three years after); and implement those recommendations (or an alternative plan). In addition, a state must meet all the requirements for receipt of CAPTA state grants.	the Victims of Crime Act) Funds are distributed in the same manner as the CAPTA State Grant. The median grant in FY2009 was \$238,000.

Source: Table prepared by the Congressional Research Service.

State Grants

Funding for CAPTA state grants (\$26.5 million in FY2009) is provided to help states improve their CPS systems and may be used for a range of purposes specified in the law. To be eligible to receive these state grant funds, a state must submit a plan including certain assurances related to how it will operate its CPS system; establish and support citizen review panels; and, to the "maximum extent practicable," annually supply to HHS certain child abuse and neglect data. The statute provides that any funds appropriated for these purposes must be distributed to all eligible states by formula.

Allowable Use of Funds

CAPTA state grant funds are intended to improve the state CPS system, and the statute provides a variety of areas in which they can be used to make improvements. ⁴⁰ These are:

- Receipt and investigation of reports of child abuse and neglect: Educate the
 public on the role of CPS and the nature and basis for reporting child abuse and
 neglect; develop and facilitate research-based training protocols for individuals
 mandated to report child abuse or neglect; improve intake assessment, screening,
 and investigation of reports; develop, improve, and implement risk and safety
 assessment tools and protocols; and improve and enhance investigation of child
 abuse and neglect reports by creating multidisciplinary teams and interagency
 protocols.
- **Prevention and services:** Improve case management, including ongoing case monitoring, and delivery of services and treatment to children and their families; develop and enhance the capacity of community-based programs to prevent and treat child abuse and neglect and to integrate parent and professional leadership strategies to do so; and develop, implement, or operate programs to assist in

⁴⁰ Section 106(a) of CAPTA.

- obtaining or coordinating necessary services for families of disabled infants with life-threatening conditions.
- *Training and workforce recruitment and retention:* Develop, strengthen, and facilitate training, including training on research-based strategies to promote collaboration with families, the legal duties (of CPS workers), ⁴¹ and personal safety for case workers; and improve the skills, qualifications, and availability of individuals providing services to children and families through the child protection system, and the supervisors of such individuals.
- Collaboration between agencies: Support and enhance interagency collaboration between the child protection system and the juvenile justice system to improve services and treatment, and provide methods for continuity of treatment plans and services for children moving between the systems; and support and enhance collaboration among public health agencies, CPS agencies, and private community-based programs to provide child abuse and neglect prevention and treatment services (including linkages with education systems) and to address the health needs, including mental health needs, of children identified as abused or neglected, including supporting prompt comprehensive health and developmental evaluations for children who are the subject of substantiated child maltreatment reports.
- Legal preparation and representation: Improve legal preparation and representation, including procedures for appealing and responding to appeals of substantiated reports of child abuse and neglect and provision for the appointment of an appropriately trained individual to represent the best interests of child victims in judicial proceedings.
- *Data collection:* Develop and update technology systems that support the work of the CPS agency, track reports of child abuse and neglect from intake through final disposition, and allow interstate and intrastate information exchange.

Requirements for Receipt of State Grant Funds

All 50 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, and other territories receive CAPTA state grants. To receive these funds, states (including the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico) must submit an initial application as well as a renewal application no less often than every five years. ⁴² Under regulations provided by HHS, the application is to be submitted as part of a broader Child and Family Services Plan (CFSP) that is intended to encourage the integration of several federal programs that provide funds for services to children and their families. ⁴³ The CAPTA state grant

⁴¹ Bracketed phrase is probable intent of the statute. Language is not specific. See Section 106(a)(6)(B) of CAPTA.

⁴² Other territories that receive CAPTA state grant funds are American Samoa, Guam, the U.S. Virgin Islands, and the Northern Mariana Islands. Under P.L. 95-134, these jurisdictions (sometimes referred to as "insular areas") are permitted to submit a consolidated grant application to receive CAPTA grant funding along with funding under a range of other specified federal social services programs (see 45 C.F.R. 97). They do not need to meet specific requirements of a given program unless they intend to use the consolidated grant funding under the specific program authority. None of these jurisdictions is currently required to meet specific CAPTA requirements.

⁴³ As stated by HHS, a primary purpose of the CFSP is to "facilitate States" integration of the programs that serve children and families ... into a continuum of services." The CFSP must include overall child and family services goals and, in addition to CAPTA state grants, must incorporate state plan and other requirements of the following programs authorized under the Social Security Act: Stephanie Tubbs Jones Child Welfare Services Program (Title IV-B, Subpart (continued...)

application must include a state plan for the CAPTA grant program, which is discussed in more detail below.

Description of Use of Funds and Program Coordination

In its plan, a state must outline how it intends to spend CAPTA state grant funds, including specifying what areas of its CPS system it will seek to improve, and what child abuse prevention services will be provided (directly or through referral). Further, states must, "to the maximum extent practicable," coordinate the CAPTA state grant program with the federal Stephanie Tubbs Jones Child Welfare Services and Promoting Safe and Stable Families programs. Those programs are authorized under Title IV-B of the Social Security Act and provide formula funding to all states for a range of services to children and families. ⁴⁴ Accordingly, in their CAPTA state grant plan, states must certify that any activities that are related to preventing, responding to, or treating child abuse or neglect and that are carried out under those Title IV-B programs meet the requirements for CAPTA state grants. ⁴⁵ The CAPTA state plan must further describe training to be provided for mandatory reporters of child abuse and neglect, as well as training for CPS workers. Finally, states are required to notify HHS annually about any substantive changes in state law that could affect their eligibility for CAPTA state grant funds and any significant changes in how the grant funds will be used.

Assurances

To receive CAPTA state grant funding, a state must also provide assurances in its state plan that it has in effect a statewide policy or program, or is enforcing a statewide law related to child abuse and neglect in the following areas:

• Receiving, screening, and investigating allegations of child abuse and neglect:

A state must have procedures to receive reports of known or suspected child abuse and neglect, and for the immediate screening, risk and safety assessment, and investigation of those reports. These procedures must include a requirement that health care providers who are involved in the delivery or care of an infant who has been affected by prenatal exposure to illegal substances notify CPS of the infant's condition. Truther, they must provide that designated individuals at

^{(...}continued)

^{1);} Promoting Safe and Stable Families (Title IV-B, Subpart 2); and the Chafee Foster Care Independence Program, including Education and Training Vouchers (Section 477). In every year for which a five-year CFSP is not required, a state must submit an Annual Progress and Services Report (APSR) discussing progress made toward the CFSP goals and providing other updated information, including requests for funding for each of the programs. Failure of a state to meet requirements of any one of the programs included in the CFSP does not jeopardize its funding for other programs. The requirements of the five-year CFSP are spelled out in federal regulation (45 CFR 1357.15) and in annual Program Instructions (for the most recent, see ACYF-CB-PI-09-06, June 3, 2009, at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/laws_policies/policy/pi/2009/pi0906.pdf).

⁴⁴ For more information on both of these Title IV-B programs, see CRS Report RL33354, *The Promoting Safe and Stable Families Program: Reauthorization in the 109th Congress*, by (name redacted).

⁴⁵ Section 106(b)(1)(A) and (B), Section 106(b)(2) (matter proceeding subparagraph (A)), Section 106(b)(2)(C) and (D) of CAPTA. See CAPTA compilation at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/laws_policies/cblaws/capta03/index.htm.

⁴⁶ Section 106(b)(2)(A)(i) and Section 106(b)(2)(A)(iv) of CAPTA.

⁴⁷ Section 106(b)(2)(A)(ii) of CAPTA. The law further specifies that this notification does not necessarily mean CPS must make a finding of abuse or neglect (i.e., it does not constitute a federal definition of child abuse or neglect) nor (continued...)

health care facilities promptly notify CPS of suspected medical neglect and that the state CPS have procedures for coordinating and consulting with those individuals on all cases of reported medical neglect. With regard to each investigation (or assessment) of reported child abuse and neglect, the state must require that a CPS worker, at the initial time of contact with the alleged perpetrator, advise that individual of the allegations made against him or her and do this in a manner consistent with laws that protect the rights of the person who made the allegation of abuse or neglect. The state must also have provisions by which individuals who disagree with an official finding of abuse or neglect can appeal this finding. Further, the state must provide, by law and regulation, for the immunity from prosecution of any individual making a good faith report of suspected instances of child abuse or neglect.

- Ensuring children's safety and making referrals to other services: A state must have procedures to refer children not at risk of imminent harm to a community organization or voluntary preventive service. A state must also have procedures to immediately ensure the safety of any child who is abused or neglected, as well as any child who may be at risk of abuse or neglect by the same caretaker, and to ensure children's placement in a safe environment. Special procedures or laws must be in place to respond to (1) child maltreatment victims under three years of age (i.e., the state must have provisions for their referral to early intervention services under Part C of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act); (2) for infants identified as being affected by prenatal exposure to illegal substances (i.e., the state must have provisions for development of a plan of safe care); and (3) for cases involving medical neglect (i.e., the state must have a law that grants CPS the authority to pursue legal remedies, including those necessary to provide medical care or treatment when necessary).
- Legal representation of children in abuse and neglect judicial proceedings:

 States are required to have provisions for the appointment of an appropriately trained guardian ad litem (an attorney, court-appointed special advocate, or both) to represent each child abuse or neglect victim who is involved in a judicial proceeding.⁵³
- Confidentiality of records: In general, states must maintain the confidentiality of all records and reports related to their child abuse and neglect investigations. At the same time, a state must have procedures to release information from these confidential records to any federal, state, or local government entity, or an agent of these entities, that needs this information to carry out its responsibilities under law to protect children from abuse and neglect. Two of these entities, child

(...continued)

does it require prosecution for any illegal action.

-

⁴⁸ Section 106(b)(2)(B)(i) and (ii) of CAPTA. Medical neglect cases must include instances of withholding of medically indicated treatment from disabled infants with life-threatening conditions.

⁴⁹ Section 106(b)(2)(a)(xv)(II) and Section 106(b)(2)(A) (xviii) of CAPTA.

⁵⁰ Section 106(b)(2)(A)(vii) of CAPTA.

⁵¹ Section 106(b)(2(A)(v) and (vi) of CAPTA.

⁵² Section 106(b)(2)(A)(xxi), Section 106(b)(2)(A)(iii), Section(b)(2)(B)(iii), and Section 113(b) of CAPTA.

⁵³ Section 106(b)(2)(A)(xii) of CAPTA.

fatality review panels and citizen review panels, are specifically named in the statute and must be given access to confidential information needed to perform their work. Further, the state is *required* to release to the public information concerning a child abuse and neglect case when it resulted in the death or near death of a child.

States are *permitted* to release child abuse and neglect records to (1) individuals who are the subject of a report; (2) a grand jury or court, if the information in the record is necessary to determine an issue before the grand jury or court; and (3) any other entity or class of individuals that is authorized *by state law* to receive the information for a legitimate state purpose (e.g., researchers, or employers conducting background checks). Finally, a state is also *permitted* to allow public access to child abuse and neglect court proceedings, provided that it does so in a manner that ensures the safety and well-being of the child, parent, and families. Individuals or entities who receive confidential information from a child abuse and neglect case are bound by the same confidentiality rules as the state and may not re-release the information. In the case of citizen review panel members, a state must have in place civil sanctions for any member of a panel that rediscloses identifying or other information from a CPS case without specific authorization to do so. 66

States must also have procedures to expunge any records made available to the general public or used for purposes of employment or other background checks in cases where the child abuse or neglect allegation is unsubstantiated or found to be false. This requirement, however, does not preclude state CPS agencies from keeping information on unsubstantiated cases in its casework files to assist in future risk and safety assessments. ⁵⁷ Finally, unless it is ordered to do so by a court, a state is always permitted to refuse to disclose identifying information concerning the person who made a specific allegation of child abuse or neglect. ⁵⁸

• *Training, worker retention, and supervision:* In addition to describing training programs for CPS workers and mandatory reporters in their state plan (see "Description of Use of Funds and Program Coordination"), states are required to have provisions to improve the training of caseworkers, as well as methods for training or informing CPS workers regarding their legal duties ("in order to protect the legal rights and safety of children and families from the initial time of

⁵⁷ Section 106(b)(2)(A)(xii) of CAPTA.

⁵⁴ Section 106(b)(2)(A)(viii), (ix) and (x); Section 106(c)(5); and Section 106(b)(2)(B)(final sentence) of CAPTA. Referral of child "victims" for Part C services is limited to those children under age three for whom the investigation *substantiates* child abuse or neglect. See HHS, Children's Bureau, *Child Welfare Policy Manual*, Section 2.1A.1, http://www.acf.hhs.gov/j2ee/programs/cb/laws_policies/laws/cwpm/policy_dsp.jsp?citID=67.

⁵⁵ HHS, Children's Bureau, *Child Welfare Policy Manual*, Section 2.1A.1, Question 1.

⁵⁶ Section 106(c)(4)(B) of CAPTA.

⁵⁸ Section 106(b)(3) of CAPTA. The original construction of this provision (and probable current intent) applied it specifically to the confidentiality provisions that describe who may receive confidential access to records and when the public has access to information from those records. However, technical amendments are necessary to correct the cross-reference.

- contact during investigation through treatment"). States must also have provisions related to improving retention and supervision of caseworkers.⁵⁹
- Establishment and support of citizen review panels: States are required to establish no less than three citizen review panels (or no less than one in less populous states). 60 The panels must be composed of volunteers who are "broadly representative" of the community, including members with expertise in the prevention and treatment of child abuse and neglect, and may include foster care review boards or child fatality panels. Citizen review panels are required to meet at least once every three months and to evaluate the effectiveness of state and local CPS agencies' policies and practices in protecting children. As part of doing this work, they must provide for public outreach and comment on the impact of CPS work. Each panel must provide to the state an annual written report (which also must be made available to the public) that summarizes its activities and recommendations for CPS improvements at the state and local level. Within six months of receiving the report, the state must submit a written response to the citizen review panel and to state and local child protection systems that describes whether or how the state will incorporate the recommendations of the panel. Finally, to permit citizen review panels to carry out their duties, states must grant them access to information on cases that the panels wish to review and must also provide, as requested, staff assistance to help the panels carry out their duties.⁶¹
- Termination of parental rights: Termination of parental rights is a legal process that severs the legal relationship (rights and responsibilities) between a parent and child. As part of ensuring children's safety and permanency, states are required to have provisions for the expedited termination of parental rights in the case of an infant who has been abandoned. States must also have provisions ensuring that no child whose parent has been convicted of a heinous crime against that child or a sibling of that child (e.g., murder, voluntary manslaughter, conspiracy to murder, or felony assault resulting in serious bodily injury to the child or sibling) be required to be reunited with that parent. In addition, once a state has those provisions in place, it must establish by state law that those same crimes against the child (or a sibling of the child) are grounds for termination of parental rights. At the same time, case-by-case determinations of whether to seek termination of parental rights remain, under CAPTA statute, at the sole discretion of the state. 62
- *Criminal background checks:* States are required to ensure that criminal background checks are completed for every prospective foster or adoptive parent and for any other adult(s) living in the household.⁶³

⁵⁹ Section 106(b)(2)(xix) and (xx) of CAPTA.

⁶⁰ Section 106(b)(2)(A)(xiv) and Section 106(c)(1)(A) of CAPTA. As of FY2009, 15 states (AK, DE, HI, ID, ME, MT, NE, NH, NM, ND, RI, SD, VT, WV, WY) and DC received the minimum allotment of funding distributed by population under Title II of CAPTA and were required to establish only one citizen review panel.

⁶¹ Section 106(c)(2) through (6) of CAPTA.

⁶² Section 106(b)(2)(a)(xv)(I), (xvi), and (xvii) of CAPTA. These CAPTA provisions were enacted in 1996 (P.L. 104-235). Similar provisions were enacted in Title IV-E of the Social Security Act as part of the Adoption and Safe Families Act (P.L. 105-89). See Section 471(a)(15)(D) and Section 475(5)(E) of the Social Security Act.

⁶³ Section 106(b)(2)(A)(xxii) of CAPTA. Title IV-E of the Social Security Act also requires every state to do criminal background checks of every prospective foster or adoptive parent, including, specifically, FBI checks. However, it does (continued...)

Data Reporting

States must, "to the maximum extent practicable," report certain child abuse and neglect data to HHS. Specifically, these data are (1) the number of children who were reported to the state during the year as abused or neglected and, of those children, the number for whom the report was substantiated, unsubstantiated, or determined to be false; (2) the number of children reported as abused or neglect who received services under CAPTA (or an equivalent state program) during the year, the number who did not, and the number who were removed from their families; (3) the number of children reunited with their families, or receiving family preservation services, that within five years were the subject of a subsequent substantiated report of child abuse or neglect (including death); (4) the number of deaths in the state during the year that were the result of child abuse or neglect and the number of those deaths that involved children in foster care; (5) the number of children for whom individuals were appointed by the court to represent the children's best interests and the average number of out-of-court contacts between the appointed representatives and these children; (6) the number of children "under the care of the state child protection system" whose custody is transferred to the state juvenile justice system; (7) the number of families that received preventive services during the year; (8) the number of CPS workers responsible for intake and screening of child abuse and neglect reports, and the number of those same CPS workers, as well as the number of CPS investigators, relative to the number of reports investigated; and (9) the agency response time with respect to initial investigation of child abuse or neglect and the response time with respect to the provision of services to families where an allegation of abuse or neglect has been made. Finally, states must, to the maximum extent practicable, submit to HHS the annual report summarizing the activities of their citizen review panels.64

Distribution of State Grant Funds

HHS awards CAPTA state grants to each of the 50 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, American Samoa, Guam, the Northern Mariana Islands, and the U.S. Virgin Islands. Each of these 56 jurisdictions receives a base allotment of \$50,000, after which the remaining funds are allocated to each jurisdiction based on its relative share of the child (under age 18) population among all of those jurisdictions. No matching funds are required to receive this grant. The statute does not authorize distribution of CAPTA state grants to Indian tribes or tribal organizations. CAPTA state grant amounts among the 50 states, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico ranged from a low of \$85,000 to a high of just over \$3.0 million in FY2009. The median grant among those 52 jurisdictions was \$367,000. **Table 2** shows CAPTA state grant funding for each of FY2007-FY2009 by state.

not mandate background checks for other adults living in the household. See Section 471(a)(20)(A) of the Social Security Act.

^{(...}continued)

⁶⁴ Section 106(d) of CAPTA.

⁶⁵ As amended by P.L. 102-235 (1992), CAPTA provides that state grant funds are to be distributed "based on the population of children under the age of 18 in each State that applies for a grant ..." (see Section 106(a) of CAPTA). HHS has long interpreted this language to permit it to make a base allocation before distributing the remaining funds by population. Current distribution is described in HHS, ACF *Justifications of Estimates for the Appropriations Committees*, *FY2010*, p. 116.

⁶⁶ Certain tribal child protection issues are addressed in the Indian Child Protection and Family Violence Prevention Act of 1990 (P.L. 101-630).

Table 2. CAPTA State Grant Funding, By State

State	FY2007	FY2008	FY2009
Alabama	\$403,461	\$403,469	\$405,387
Alaska	\$111,083	\$106,929	\$107,637
Arizona	\$562,613	\$565,425	\$578,195
Arkansas	\$269,137	\$269,570	\$271,587
California	\$3,196,791	\$3,069,656	\$3,018,231
Colorado	\$432,902	\$420,570	\$427,257
Connecticut	\$320,834	\$309,119	\$309,443
Delaware	\$113,533	\$114,548	\$115,048
District of Columbia	\$86,599	\$86,381	\$85,971
Florida	\$1,369,413	\$1,323,199	\$1,329,020
Georgia	\$816,347	\$826,922	\$850,774
Hawaii	\$147,257	\$144,170	\$140,368
Idaho	\$171,365	\$174,928	\$178,963
Illinois	\$1,101,228	\$1,069,026	\$1,061,927
Indiana	\$569,882	\$550,453	\$551,832
Iowa	\$267,574	\$276,376	\$275,024
Kansas	\$268,055	\$270,087	\$270,178
Kentucky	\$367,914	\$366,931	\$367,567
Louisiana	\$422,240	\$395,019	\$391,476
Maine	\$139,954	\$139,304	\$138,398
Maryland	\$505,049	\$481,555	\$479,801
Massachusetts	\$522,913	\$508,911	\$503,227
Michigan	\$868,746	\$834,904	\$823,966
Minnesota	\$448,813	\$448,541	\$448,640
Mississippi	\$292,790	\$290,446	\$293,149
Missouri	\$497,029	\$500,658	\$500,688
Montana	\$116,490	\$119,098	\$119,429
Nebraska	\$189,999	\$191,116	\$191,120
Nevada	\$251,479	\$251,007	\$258,765
New Hampshire	\$148,327	\$144,311	\$144,319
New Jersey	\$751,179	\$712,050	\$702,798
New Mexico	\$208,763	\$211,691	\$208,242
New York	\$1,524,454	\$1,479,978	\$1,446,008
North Carolina	\$744,445	\$732,760	\$751,475
North Dakota	\$94,280	\$95,500	\$95,172
Ohio	\$944,916	\$928,480	\$920,446
Oklahoma	\$326,779	\$333,616	\$334,523
Oregon	\$325,679	\$321,713	\$322,947
Pennsylvania	\$963,607	\$939,492	\$931,468
Puerto Rico	\$384,763	\$372,734	\$367,241
Rhode Island	\$129,580	\$125,229	\$123,737

State	FY2007	FY2008	FY2009
South Carolina	\$383,172	\$379,137	\$385,263
South Dakota	\$111,065	\$111,456	\$112,278
Tennessee	\$501,015	\$508,459	\$515,446
Texas	\$2,101,926	\$2,110,255	\$2,145,039
Utah	\$290,848	\$300,978	\$308,369
Vermont	\$93,015	\$92,424	\$91,548
Virginia	\$641,797	\$622,041	\$627,639
Washington	\$531,453	\$534,066	\$535,969
West Virginia	\$174,063	\$173,631	\$172,533
Wisconsin	\$470,355	\$466,604	\$467,934
Wyoming	\$87,080	\$88,313	\$89,654
50 states, DC, and Puerto Rico subtotal	\$26,764,051	\$26,293,236	\$26,293,116
Insular Areas (consolidated grants) ^a			
American Samoa	\$58,283	\$58,091	\$58,078
Guam	\$67,792	\$67,379	\$67,351
Northern Mariana Islands	\$55,752	\$55,618	\$55,609
U.S. Virgin Islands	\$61,122	\$60,864	\$60,846
Insular areas subtotal	\$242,949	\$241,952	\$241,884
TOTAL	\$27,007,000	\$26,535,188	\$26,535,000

Source: Table prepared by the Congressional Research Service.

a. These territories are referred to here as "insular areas" because this is the term used in federal regulation (45 CFR Part 97), which permits them to submit a consolidated grant application for these grants and for grants under other social services programs. Under this regulation, these jurisdictions must meet only those program requirements specified in the consolidated grant application for which they intend to use the funds.

Reported Use of Funds

As part of their FY2008 application to receive these grants, states reported that they planned to spend close to half of their CAPTA state grant funds (48%) on prevention and support services (these might include respite care, early developmental screening of children, services to increase parenting skills, home visiting, and family support or resource centers); a little less than that (44%) for protective services (which, among other things, includes investigations, case management, and service referrals); 5% for training; and the remainder on intensive family preservation or services to expeditiously reunite children removed from their homes with their parents.⁶⁷

Funds provided under CAPTA state grants may support improved prevention activities in the state and improvements to the CPS system for receiving and responding to reports of abuse or neglect.

⁶⁷ Planned national spending estimates, by purpose, were calculated by CRS based on state-by-state data included in "Compilation of State Child Welfare Expenditures Reported on CFS-101," submitted by HHS to Congress (August 2008).

Title II of CAPTA exclusively provides funds to support community-based child abuse or neglect prevention activities. No federal program, however, exclusively provides funds for the *operation* of state CPS systems, although states may, and do, use a variety of federal funding streams to support their CPS systems (including, for example, funding under the Social Services Block Grant (SSBG), Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) block grant, and the Stephanie Tubbs Jones Child Welfare Services program). Available data, however, suggest that states provide the largest share of CPS funding from non-federal sources (state and local dollars). For FY2007 (most recent data available), states reported spending \$270 million through the SSBG funding stream (including TANF funds transferred to that block grant) ⁶⁸ for "child protective services." However, among the 36 states able to report on total child protective services spending in their state, SSBG spending amounted to less than 8% of all state spending (including state, local, and federal dollars) for child protective services.

Community-Based Grants to Prevent Child Abuse and Neglect

CAPTA Title II community-based grants—administratively referred to as Community-Based grants for Child Abuse Prevention or CBCAP grants—are one of the few sources of federal child and family services funding that are wholly dedicated to the prevention of child abuse and neglect. The funds are distributed to a state-designated lead entity in each state, and must be redistributed by that lead entity to community-based groups for the support of a continuum of prevention-focused programs and activities designed to strengthen and support families to prevent child abuse and neglect. Programs and activities supported may range from public campaigns to prevent child abuse or neglect to provision of services for families such as home visiting, respite care, and parenting education. Families served with CBCAP funds are typically those that meet some "at risk" definition but—in keeping with the prevention focus—are not in current contact with the child welfare agency. The statute directs that some of the CBCAP funds be set aside for technical assistance and for tribal or migrant programs before distribution to all states. The distribution is based, in part, on each state's relative share of child population as well as its ability to leverage non-federal funds to further support prevention activities and services.

Allowable Use of Funds

The statute stipulates how the state-designated lead entity must use CBCAP funds and also provides certain complementary requirements for the use of funds by community-based subgrantees. CBCAP funds are to be used by the state's lead entity for the following purposes.⁷¹

⁶⁸ Social Services Block Grant Program Annual Report 2007. Available through the HHS, Administration for Children and Families, Office of Community Services at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/ocs/ssbg/reports/2007/index.html.

⁶⁹ Ibid. For purposes of this reporting requirement, protective services for children is defined as "services or activities designed to prevent or remedy abuse, neglect, or exploitation of children who may be harmed through physical or mental injury, sexual abuse or exploitation, and negligent treatment or maltreatment, including failure to be provided with adequate food, clothing, shelter, or medical care. Component services or activities may include immediate investigation and intervention; emergency medical services; emergency shelter; developing case plans; initiation of legal action (if needed); counseling for the child and the family; assessment/evaluation of family circumstances; arranging alternative living arrangements; preparing for foster placement, if needed; and case management and referral to service providers."

⁷⁰ Ibid, Chapter 2. Use of SSBG funds for child protective services varies greatly by state.

⁷¹ Section 201(b)(1)-(5) and Section 206(b) of CAPTA

- Develop, operate, expand, and enhance community-based, prevention-focused programs and activities designed to strengthen and support families to prevent child abuse and neglect. Programs and activities are expected to be accessible, effective, and culturally appropriate, and to (1) offer support to families to increase family stability and improve access to services; (2) promote the development of parenting skills (especially in young parents and parents with young children); (3) demonstrate a commitment to meaningful parent leadership in the planning for and operation of community-based programs; and (4) support the additional needs of families that include children with disabilities (through respite care and other services). Finally, in awarding grants to community-based programs, the lead entity must give priority to effective programs that serve low-income communities, and those that serve young parents or parents with young children, including community-based family resource and support programs.
- Foster a continuum of prevention services for children and families through state and community-based collaborations and partnerships, both public and private.
- Finance the start-up and operation of family support and family resource services that respond to identified unmet needs. Unmet needs are to be identified by a regular inventory of community-based services.
- Maximize funding for services to strengthen and support families to prevent child abuse and neglect by leveraging and integrating all available public and private funds at the federal, state, and local levels.
- *Finance public information campaigns* focused on health and positive development of parents and children and on the prevention of child abuse and neglect.

Community-based groups receiving funds via the state entity must focus on similar activities at the local level. These are (1) assessing community need and involving parents in planning a continuum of services; (2) developing a strategy to provide, over time, a continuum of services through public and private partnerships; (3) providing core family resource and family support services, including services related to parent education, mutual support, and self help; outreach services; and community and social service referrals; (4) providing, or arranging for provision of, other core services, including voluntary home visiting and all forms of respite care services⁷³; (5) developing leadership roles for meaningful involvement of parents in designing, operating, evaluating, and overseeing these prevention and support programs and services; (6) providing leadership in mobilizing local public and private resources for these services; and (7) participating with other community-based groups and activities to strengthen prevention activities and family resources and supports.

⁷² Section 206(a) of CAPTA.

⁷³ The statute also specifies the following services for which "access" is to be provided: child care, early childhood development and intervention services; self sufficiency and life management skills training; peer counseling; and community or direct referrals, including referrals for early developmental screening of children, services and supports to meet the additional needs of families with disabilities, adoption counseling for individuals seeking to adopt a child or to relinquish a child for adoption, job readiness services, and education services (e.g., tutoring, literacy, GED services).

Eligibility Requirements

To be eligible for funding, a state must designate a lead entity to direct CBCAP funding and efforts; provide certain assurances, including some related to the qualifications and work of that lead entity; submit an application that includes a description of certain planned CBCAP activities, a budget showing that the state will provide not less than 20% in matching program funds, and other assurances; and submit annual program reports to HHS.

- Designate a lead entity to direct the spending of CBCAP funds. The entity selected may be a public, private nonprofit, or quasi-public organization. It must have a demonstrated ability to integrate child abuse and neglect prevention services and activities and to leverage and blend a variety of funds to support these activities.⁷⁴ In roughly half of the states (including Puerto Rico), a public agency serves as the lead entity (most commonly the child welfare agency or another agency within the human services department), 75 and in the remaining states (including the District of Columbia), quasi-public or private nonprofit agencies (most commonly the state's Children's Trust Fund) have been designated as the lead entity.⁷⁶
- Assurances concerning the work of the lead entity. The state must provide assurances that the lead entity will provide, or be responsible for, (1) communitybased and prevention-focused programs and activities designed to strengthen and support families and to prevent child abuse and neglect, and that these programs, where appropriate, will be provided through a network;⁷⁷ (2) direction through an interdisciplinary and collaborative public-private structure that includes balanced representation from public and private sector members, parents (including parents with disabilities), and nonprofit and public service providers; (3) direction and oversight by identifying goals and objectives; (4) clear lines of communication and accountability; (5) leveraged or combined funding from federal, state, local, and private sources; (6) centralized assessment and planning activities; (7) training and technical assistance; and (8) reporting and evaluation. Further, the state must assure that the lead entity will integrate its efforts with the child abuse and neglect activities of the state and with individuals and organizations experienced in working in partnership with families that have children with disabilities and parents with disabilities.⁷⁸
- Assurances concerning the qualifications of the lead entity. The state must provide assurances that the lead entity it designates has (1) a demonstrated

⁷⁴ Section 202(1) of CAPTA.

⁷⁵ In two states (Oklahoma and Hawaii), however, the state public health department administers CBCAP funds.

⁷⁶ Lead agency information based on information available from CBCAP national resource center at http://www.friendsnrc.org/contacts/contacts.asp.

⁷⁷ Prior to the amendments made by the Keeping Children and Families Safe Act of 2003 (P.L. 108-36), assurance that the lead entity would provide these programs through a network was required, and that network was required to have interdisciplinary structures and balanced representation. Further, the lead entity was responsible for providing direction to this network. In explaining the deletion of "network" in multiple places, both the Senate HELP (S.Rept. 108-12, p. 17) and the House Education and Workforce (H.Rept. 108-26, p. 30) committees noted that "it is not the intent of the committee to alter State practices of funding networks or to de-emphasize the important role that networks can play in conducting prevention programs."

⁷⁸ Section 202(2)(A)-(C) and Section 202(3)(D) of CAPTA.

commitment to involving parents in the development, operation, and oversight of community-based programs that support families to prevent child abuse and neglect; (2) shown its ability to work with state and community-based organizations (both public and private nonprofit groups) to develop a continuum of preventive services and supports for children and families; and (3) the capacity, through interagency funding and interdisciplinary service delivery mechanisms, to provide operational support (financial and programmatic), training, and technical assistance to community-based child abuse prevention and family resource and support programs.⁷⁹

- Submit an application including descriptions, assurances, and plans related to administration of CBCAP and the role of the lead entity. The state must submit an application to HHS that (1) describes the lead entity that will be responsible for administration of the CBCAP grant and oversight of the community-based programs funded; (2) describes how those community-based programs will operate and how public and private family resource and support services will be integrated into developing a continuum of family-centered, holistic preventive services for children and families; (3) includes a plan for providing operational support, training, and technical assistance to community-based prevention programs to develop, operate, expand, and enhance their activities; (4) provides an inventory of community-based child abuse and neglect prevention and family resource programs operating in the state and current unmet needs; (5) describes the criteria the lead entity will use to develop or to select and fund communitybased child abuse and neglect prevention programs; (6) describes how the lead entity will advocate for systemic changes in state policy, practices, procedures, and regulations to improve the delivery of community-based, prevention-focused services to children and families; (7) describes the outreach activities that the lead entity and the community-based child abuse and neglect prevention programs will do to maximize the participation of racial and ethnic minorities, children and adults with disabilities, homeless families and those at risk of homelessness, and members of other underserved or underrepresented groups; and (8) assures that the state can meaningfully involve parents in planning, implementing, and evaluating programs and policy decisions of the lead entity.80
- *Submit a program budget.* As part of its application, the state must also supply HHS with a CBCAP program budget and it must verify that it will spend in nonfederal funds (cash only) an amount not less than 20% of its federal CBCAP funding. Further, the state must assure that federal CBCAP funds will be used to supplement, not supplant, other funds for community-based, prevention-focused programs serving children and families.⁸¹
- Provide performance and other reports or information deemed necessary by HHS. The application must describe how the work of the lead entity and of the community-based programs it funds will be evaluated. Further, the state must assure that it will provide HHS with annual reports on the program, including information on "performance measures" that (1) demonstrate that the state lead

⁷⁹ Section 202(3)(A)-(C) of CAPTA.

⁸⁰ Section 205(1)-(3), (6)-(9) and (11) of CAPTA.

⁸¹ Section 205(4) and (5) of CAPTA.

entity has effectively developed, operated, and expanded community-based programs that meet the requirements of CBCAP; (2) describe services provided by local programs and demonstrate that they have addressed identified unmet needs; (3) describe the number of families served and demonstrate their high level of satisfaction with the services; (4) describe the involvement of diverse families in designing, operating, and evaluating community-based programs to prevent child abuse and neglect and have an implementation plan to ensure continued leadership of parents in program design, operation, and evaluation; (5) demonstrate establishment or continuation of innovative funding mechanisms that blend a variety of resource and interdisciplinary service mechanisms to develop, support, and expand community-based programs to prevent child abuse and neglect; and (6) describe the results of a peer review process conducted under the state program.⁸²

Distribution of Funds

States that properly designate a lead entity, submit an application, and provide necessary reports and assurances are eligible to receive CBCAP funds. For FY2009, \$41.7 million was appropriated for this grant program. The statute requires HHS to reserve 1% of the funds annually appropriated for grants to Indian tribes, tribal organizations, and migrant programs. 83 It further permits HHS to set aside "such sums as may be necessary" for certain program support and technical assistance activities. 84 Remaining funds are to be allocated among all states by formula.

- *Tribal and migrant programs*. The 1% reservation for tribal entities and migrant programs is distributed by HHS on a competitive basis. In FY2009, roughly \$417,000 was available under this set-aside and the funds provided a second year of funding to three grantees: the Yakima Valley Farm Workers Clinic, Toppenish, WA; Grand Traverse Band of Ottawa and Chippewa Indians, Suttons Bay, MI; and the Indian Child Welfare Consortium, Temecula, CA. The grants are expected to extend for three years (FY2008-FY2010), and, contingent on the amount of appropriated funding, the annual support for grantees is anticipated to be just under \$139,000 in each of those three years.
- **Technical assistance and program support.** As permitted by statute, the Children's Bureau also reserved some CBCAP funds (just under \$1.5 million in FY2009) for ongoing support of the FRIENDS national resource center (http://www.friendsnrc.org), which supports CBCAP lead entities and the community-based programs they fund, and to provide additional technical assistance and program support.
- Funds to states. The remaining funds, approximately \$40 million in FY2009, are distributed to all 50 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, American Samoa, Guam, the Northern Mariana Islands, and the U.S. Virgin Islands (56 jurisdictions) by formula. 85 Seventy percent of the funds (roughly \$28 million in

⁸² Section 205(10) and (12) of CAPTA and Section 207 of CAPTA.

⁸³ Section 203(a) of CAPTA.

⁸⁴ Section 208 of CAPTA.

⁸⁵ The statute does not define "state" for purposes of these grants (Title II of CAPTA). In the absence of this definition, HHS uses the definition of state that applies to CAPTA state grants, which includes all 50 states, the District of (continued...)

FY2009) are allotted to each jurisdiction based on its relative share of the total child (under age 18) population among all eligible jurisdictions. However, no jurisdiction is permitted to receive less than a minimum allotment of \$200,000. The remaining 30% of the CBCAP state funding (roughly \$12 million in FY2009) is distributed based on the relative share of non-federal funds that a state (meaning the 50 states, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico) was able to leverage in support of child abuse and neglect prevention activities and services in the prior fiscal year. A state may claim as leveraged dollars any state, local, or private money used for CBCAP purposes, provided the funds were directed through the state's lead CBCAP entity and were not used as matching funds or to meet maintenance of effort (MOE) requirements for any other federal program.

As shown in **Table 3**, states leveraged more than \$322 million in non-federal funding for child abuse and neglect prevention activities in FY2007, and a state's relative share of that total leveraged sum determined its share of the leverage funding awarded under the CBCAP program for FY2008. **Table 3** also shows total CBCAP funds awarded to each state in FY2008, including the amounts of that award attributable to the state's relative share of the national child population (with a minimum allotment of \$200,000) and to its share of total leveraged funds. Grant amounts to individual states ranged from about \$200,000 on the low end to \$3.6 million on the high end. The median grant (excluding the four territories) was \$567,000.

Table 3. Community-Based Grants for the Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect, FY2008 Awards

State	Award Based on Child Population	Allowable Leveraged Funds Claimed	Share of Leverage Award	Award Based on Leveraged Funds	TOTAL
Alabama	\$380,295	\$2,000,000	0.62%	\$74,164	\$454,459
Alaska	198,592	1,074,474	0.33%	39,843	238,435
Arizona	551,053	13,780,331	4.28%	511,000	1,062,053
Arkansas	238,086	508,115	0.16%	18,842	256,928

(...continued)

Columbia, Puerto Rico, and four territories or "insular areas" (American Samoa, Guam, Northern Mariana Islands, and the U.S. Virgin Islands).

⁸⁶ Under the minimum allotment process, HHS distributes the available funds based on a state's relative share of the child population. In the event that this process results in any state receiving an allotment amount that is less than the minimum allotment amount, that state's actual population-based CBCAP funding is increased to the minimum amount by ratably reducing the amount of funds to any states with initial allotment above the minimum amount.

⁸⁷ The statute provides that no state may receive a CBCAP child population-based award of less than \$175,000 (Section 203(b)(1)(A). However, beginning with FY2005, when the CBCAP appropriation increased by roughly \$10 million, HHS has ensured that no state receives less than \$200,000 in CBCAP child-population based funding.

⁸⁸ The insular areas (American Samoa, Guam, Northern Mariana Islands, and U.S. Virgin Islands) may each choose to receive CBCAP funds using a consolidated grant application. All currently do so, and this both permits them to use CBCAP (and other program funds) for broad social service purposes (see 45 C.F.R. 97) and exempts them from the application requirements for CBCAP funds (e.g., appointment of lead entity to direct funding for community-based prevention activities). However, this makes them ineligible to claim any CBCAP leveraged funds awards.

⁸⁹ However, a state may choose to use the 20% matching funds it must provide on its CBCAP allotment as leverage funds provided, again, that those funds were not counted for matching or MOE purposes in any other federal program.

State	Award Based on Child Population	Allowable Leveraged Funds Claimed	Share of Leverage Award	Award Based on Leveraged Funds	TOTAL
California	3,181,972	12,356,000	3.84%	458,183	3,640,155
Colorado	394,800	8,913,178	2.77%	330,517	725,317
Connecticut	264,562	11,429,362	3.55%	423,822	688,384
Delaware	203,009	215,173	0.07%	7,979	210,988
District of Columbia	199,409	450,927	0.14%	16,721	216,130
Florida	1,377,324	590,232	0.18%	21,887	1,399,211
Georgia	862,805	0	0.00%	0	862,805
Hawaii	182,281	13,520,871	4.20%	501,379	683,660
Idaho	199,894	81,505	0.03%	3,022	202,916
Illinois	1,087,985	1,777,608	0.55%	65,917	1,153,902
Indiana	693,069	20,217,000	6.28%	749,683	1,442,752
Iowa	230,761	8,923,864	2.77%	330,913	561,674
Kansas	217,950	14,715,457	4.57%	545,676	763,626
Kentucky	286,524	42,459,678	13.18%	1,574,482	1,861,006
Louisiana	366,740	906,669	0.28%	33,621	400,361
Maine	199,548	345,216	0.11%	12,801	212,349
Maryland	455,343	5,916,079	1.84%	219,379	674,722
Massachusetts	485,327	2,296,115	0.71%	85,144	570,471
Michigan	827,870	4,616,802	1.43%	171,199	999,069
Minnesota	396,343	25,317,203	7.86%	938,808	1,335,151
Mississippi	261,984	0	0.00%	0	261,984
Missouri	481,907	2,818,908	0.88%	104,530	586,437
Montana	199,947	40,013	0.01%	1,484	201,431
Nebraska	199,026	743,488	0.23%	27,570	226,596
Nevada	220,097	3,693,227	1.15%	136,952	357,049
New Hampshire	199,736	201,376	0.06%	7,467	207,203
New Jersey	655,667	36,398,000	11.30%	1,349,704	2,005,371
New Mexico	180,576	14,821,568	4.60%	549,611	730,187
New York	1,502,184	1,499,765	0.47%	55,614	1,557,798
North Carolina	745,330	8,000,000	2.48%	296,655	1,041,985
North Dakota	199,814	142,200	0.04%	5,273	205,087
Ohio	925,101	9,747,657	3.03%	361,461	1,286,562
Oklahoma	282,203	18,588,934	5.77%	689,312	971,515
Oregon	293,991	75,122	0.02%	2,786	296,777
Pennsylvania	947,675	1,583,400	0.49%	58,715	1,006,390
Puerto Rico	337,907	2,983,158	0.93%	110,621	448,528
Rhode Island	198,555	1,102,718	0.34%	40,891	239,446
South Carolina	361,126	82,801	0.03%	3,070	364,196
South Dakota	199,750	190,529	0.06%	7,065	206,815
Tennessee	484,569	12,921,340	4.01%	479,147	963,716
Texas	2,254,789	1,938,371	0.60%	71,878	2,326,667

State	Award Based on Child Population	Allowable Leveraged Funds Claimed	Share of Leverage Award	Award Based on Leveraged Funds	TOTAL
Utah	273,965	3,372,633	1.05%	125,063	399,028
	•			,	ŕ
Vermont	196,150	2,938,400	0.91%	108,961	305,111
Virginia	621,764	474,801	0.15%	17,606	639,370
Washington	522,050	1,193,279	0.37%	44,249	566,299
West Virginia	198,099	1,449,945	0.45%	53,767	251,866
Wisconsin	446,897	2,603,315	0.81%	96,536	543,433
Wyoming	199,849	115,433	0.04%	4,280	204,129
Subtotal (50 states, DC and	\$27,072,250	\$322,132,240	100.00%	\$11,945,250	\$39,017,500
Insular areas ^a					
American Samoa	200,000				200,000
Guam	200,000				200,000
N. Mariana Islands	200,000				200,000
U.S. Virgin Islands	200,000				200,000
Subtotal (insular areas)	\$800,000				\$800,000
Set asides					
Tribal and migrant program					413,859
Technical Assistance/other					1,457,389
TOTAL	\$27,872,250	\$322,132,240	100%	\$11,945,250	\$41,688,748

Source: Table prepared by the Congressional Research Service. Total final awards and allowable leveraged claims were estimated by CRS based on HHS information provided on the FRIENDS National Resource Center website (regarding leverage claim amounts) and final FY2008 allotment amounts.

a. Each of the insular areas is eligible to receive (and currently does receive) CBCAP funds under consolidated grant rules (45 C.F.R. 97). This permits them to use CBCAP funds for a range of service purposes and exempts them from specific CBCAP application requirements if they do not intend to use the funds under the CBCAP program authority. Insular areas receiving CBCAP funds under the consolidated grant rules are ineligible to receive leverage awards because they do not appoint a lead entity to leverage funds.

Research, Demonstration, and Other Activities

CAPTA authorizes support for a wide range of research, technical assistance, data collection, demonstration, and other activities related to the identification, prevention, and treatment of child abuse and neglect. Funding provided for these activities is typically awarded by HHS, on a competitive basis, via contract, grant, or cooperative agreement. As discussed in greater detail below, the statute requires HHS to undertake or support certain research, data collection, and technical assistance and it permits HHS to do certain other related activities.

CAPTA funding appropriated for these required or permitted purposes is provided under the CAPTA "discretionary activities" account in the annual appropriations act. That account received \$41.8 million in the FY2009 appropriations act (P.L. 111-8), of which Congress—as part of the appropriations process—directed HHS to use \$16.4 million for the following purposes: \$13.5 million to continue support for a home visitation initiative begun in FY2008; \$500,000 for a feasibility study on the creation, development, and maintenance of a national registry of substantiated child abuse cases; and \$2.4 million for 12 specific projects or programs located in eight states.

Required Activities

Under CAPTA, HHS is required (directly or through competitive grants, contracts, or agreements) to support certain research and projects and provide technical assistance. These required activities are listed below, including, in some instances, a short discussion of how HHS is meeting or has met the requirement.

- Establish a national clearinghouse on child abuse after consulting with other relevant federal agencies and their heads and soliciting public comment. HHS currently funds the Child Welfare Information Gateway (www.childwelfare.gov), which incorporates the former National Clearinghouse on Child Abuse and Neglect Information. The Child Welfare Information Gateway website offers a wide range of policy and practice resources regarding identifying, reporting, responding to, and treating child abuse and neglect.
- Collect and disseminate information related to child abuse and neglect identification, prevention, and treatment. Specifically, HHS must maintain, collect, and/or disseminate information on (1) programs related to the prevention, assessment, identification, and treatment of child abuse and neglect that are effective or promising and have the potential for broad implementation; (2) best practices for improving child protective systems; (3) best practices for addressing or making appropriate referrals related to the physical, developmental, and mental health needs of abused and neglected children; (4) the incidence of child abuse and neglect in the United States, including, specifically, among populations determined as underserved and among cases related to alcohol or drug abuse; and (5) training resources available at the state and local level for individuals who engage in preventing, identifying, and treating child abuse and neglect. In addition to the Child Welfare Information Gateway, HHS funds a number of national resource centers and quality improvement centers that respond to these requirements. 90 For example, it currently supports the National Quality Improvement Center on Differential Response in Child Protective Services, and the National Center on Substance Abuse and Child Welfare. 91
- Establish a national child abuse and neglect data collection and analysis system. The 1988 CAPTA amendments (P.L. 100-294) that added this requirement specified that the system must, to the extent practicable, coordinate existing federal, state, regional, and local child welfare data systems; include state-reported data on the number of deaths due to child abuse and neglect; and include standardized state-reported information on false, unfounded, unsubstantiated, and substantiated reports of child abuse or neglect. Further, it required HHS to compile and make available the state-reported child abuse and neglect data. HHS has established the National Child Abuse and Neglect Data System (NCANDS) and produces an annual publication (Child Maltreatment) that compiles and analyzes child abuse and neglect data reported by states. All

⁹⁰ The Children's Bureau sometimes pools CAPTA dollars with other research or technical assistance funding available for child welfare purposes and it funds a training and technical assistance network that covers a continuum of child welfare topics. For a complete listing, see the "Training and Technical Assistance" section of the Children's Bureau webpage at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/tta/index.htm.

⁹¹ The Children's Bureau jointly funds the National Center on Substance Abuse and Child Welfare with the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA).

states have submitted data to NCANDS on an annual basis, although this reporting is considered voluntary for states. Data collected via NCANDS may also be accessed by researchers for additional study through the HHS-funded National Data Archive on Child Abuse and Neglect housed at Cornell University. 92

- Provide technical assistance to state and local public and private agencies and community-based organizations, including disability organizations and people who work with children with disabilities. The purpose of the technical assistance is to aid these agencies and organizations in developing, improving, and carrying out programs related to prevention, assessment, identification, and treatment of child abuse and neglect and in replicating successful programs. HHS funds the National Resource Center on Child Protective Services, among other relevant resource centers and projects (including some of those also charged with collecting and disseminating relevant information).
- Support an ongoing research program designed to provide information on how to better protect children from abuse or neglect and to improve the well-being of abused or neglected children. The research program must be interdisciplinary, and include some field-initiated research projects as well as longitudinal research. HHS must compile, analyze, and publish a summary of the research funded under the program. Further, HHS is required to establish priorities for this research program, solicit public comment on those priorities, and maintain an official record of the comment. HHS makes annual competitive grant announcements for child abuse and neglect related research and has published a notice of research priorities in the Federal Register. 93

The statute includes a list of topics on which HHS may choose to focus its required research topics, including the (1) nature and scope of child abuse and neglect and its causes, prevention, assessment, identification, treatment, cultural and socio-economic distinctions, and consequences; (2) effects of abuse and neglect on a child's development and successful early intervention or other services needed; (3) appropriate, effective, and culturally sensitive investigative. administrative, and judicial systems with respect to child abuse cases (including multi-disciplinary and coordinated decision-making procedures); (4) evaluation and dissemination of best practices to improve child protective services systems; (5) effective interagency collaboration between child protective services and the juvenile justice system to improve delivery and continuity of services; (6) evaluation of redundancies and gaps in services to prevent child abuse and neglect to enable better use of resources; (7) nature, scope, and practice of voluntary relinquishment to foster care or state guardianship for the purpose of receiving health or mental health services for low-income children; and (8) information on the national incidence of child abuse and neglect.

_

⁹² Annual child maltreatment reports may be accessed from the Children's Bureau website at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can. More information about the National Data Archive on Child Abuse and Neglect is available at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/tta/ndacan.htm.

⁹³ For information on discretionary grants, see http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/programs_fund/discretionary/captad.htm. For FY2006-FY2008 published priorities, see *Federal Register* of February 3, 2006.

- Survey the national incidence of child abuse and neglect and report findings to *Congress.* The Keeping Children and Families Safe Act of 2003 (P.L. 108-36) required HHS to conduct a fourth national incidence survey of child abuse and neglect (NIS-4) and to report back to Congress by July 2007. 94 Specifically, Congress asked HHS to look at and report on the (1) incidence and prevalence of child maltreatment by an array of demographic characteristics (e.g., age, sex, race, family structure, household relationship, school enrollment and education attainment, disability, grandparents as caregivers, labor force status, work status, and income status); (2) any increase or decrease in the number and severity of child abuse cases; (3) incidence of reported child abuse cases that are substantiated and unsubstantiated; (4) number of substantiated cases that result in a judicial finding of child abuse or neglect or related criminal court convictions: (5) extent to which the number of reports of child abuse or neglect that are not substantiated or are false interferes with a state's ability to respond to serious cases of child abuse and neglect; (6) extent to which lack of resources or adequate training for mandatory reporters contribute to a state's inability to respond to serious cases of child abuse or neglect; (7) number of unsubstantiated, false, or unfounded reports that result in a child's out-of-home placement and the length of that placement; (8) extent to which unsubstantiated reports return as more serious cases of child abuse or neglect; (9) incidence and prevalence of physical, sexual, and emotional abuse and physical and emotional neglect in foster care; and (10) incidence and outcomes of abuse allegations reported within the context of divorce, custody, or other family court proceedings, and the interaction between the court and the child protective services system. Survey data were collected from 2005 to 2007, but as of early November 2009, the report to Congress on this research has not yet been made available. 95
- Establish a peer review process for awarding certain grants or contracts. The peer review process spelled out in statute is designed to ensure consultation with experts in the field in making grants under the CAPTA research program and to enhance the quality and usefulness of the research. In addition, for certain grants or projects funded via CAPTA, the statute requires evaluations to assess their effectiveness.

Permitted Activities

Permitted activities for HHS include establishing an Office of Child Abuse and Neglect, establishing an Advisory Board on Child Abuse and Neglect, and supporting research or demonstration projects and programs on specific topics listed in the statute that are related to the prevention of child abuse and neglect. These and other permitted activities are described below.

• Establish an Office of Child Abuse and Neglect. HHS has established the Office of Child Abuse and Neglect (OCAN) within the Children's Bureau. As stipulated in law, the purposes of the office are to carry out and coordinate the functions and activities of CAPTA, to ensure the necessary expertise and intradepartmental

⁹⁴ The first National Incidence Survey was conducted in 1979-1980, a second was fielded in 1986-1987, and a third from 1993 to 1995. For more information, see http://www.childwelfare.gov/systemwide/statistics/nis.cfm

⁹⁵ For more information, see the NIS-4 website at https://www.nis4.org/nis4.asp.

coordination whenever it is necessary to do this, and to ensure regular intradepartmental and interdepartmental consultation with all agencies involved in child abuse and neglect activities. ⁹⁶ The Federal Interagency Working Group on Child Abuse and Neglect, with representation from more than 40 federal agencies, meets in-person on a quarterly basis, and some members are in more frequent contact by conference call. The purposes of the working group include providing a forum through which staff from relevant federal agencies can communicate and exchange ideas concerning child abuse and neglect related programs and activities and providing a basis for collective action through which funding and resources can be maximized. ⁹⁷

- Appoint an Advisory Board on Child Abuse and Neglect. HHS is permitted to establish an Advisory Board on Child Abuse and Neglect to make recommendations concerning specific child abuse and neglect related issues to the agency and Congress. The current law stipulates certain necessary characteristics and qualifications for members appointed to this board. 98 Under prior law, HHS was required to appoint an Advisory Board on Child Abuse and Neglect, and during the first half of the 1990s—when the last Board was appointed—it released several reports. 99 Those reports made specific recommendations related to responding to abuse or neglect, preventing abuse and neglect (including through implementation of universal voluntary neonatal home visiting and creation of comprehensive neighborhood-based prevention strategies), and prevention of child abuse and neglect related fatalities (including through increased knowledge of the problem, a primary focus on "safety" in all child and family programs, interdisciplinary and other efforts to improve investigation and prosecution of child abuse and neglect related fatalities, and improved family preservation and family support services). 100
- Support additional research or fund other activities related to the prevention and treatment of child abuse and neglect. In addition to the required research program, the statute gives HHS authority to fund a range of research or other activities intended to advance cross-agency and cross-discipline links in ways that are expected to improve how CPS responds to and serves children and families. These include projects that encourage linkages across child welfare, law, education, health, mental health, and law enforcement agencies, as well as across public and private agencies, including faith-based and community-based groups. The act specifically suggests collaboration efforts to improve school-based prevention, identification, and assessment of child abuse and neglect; "triage" procedures in screening and responding to reports of child abuse and neglect; recognition of substance abuse or domestic violence in neglect

⁹⁷ For more information on the working group and its membership, see the information at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/fediawg/index.htm.

⁹⁹ The 1996 amendments to CAPTA (P.L. 104-235) removed this requirement from CAPTA and instead made appointment of an Advisory Board on Child Abuse and Neglect discretionary.

_

⁹⁶ Section 101 of CAPTA.

⁹⁸ Section 102 of CAPTA.

¹⁰⁰ A total of five reports were produced (1990, 1991, 1992, 1993, and 1995). See U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), *A Nation's Shame: Fatal Child Abuse and Neglect in the United States*, A Report of the U.S. Advisory Board on Child Abuse and Neglect (April 1995).

situations; and better health evaluations and forensic diagnosis of abuse or neglect.

Many projects related to improving training or practice for CPS workers and related personnel are listed in the statute. HHS may choose to make grants to, or contracts with, states, public and private agencies or organizations, or a combination of those entities to improve the training of supervisory and non-supervisory child welfare workers, and for training of child protective services workers regarding, specifically, best practices in working with families from initial contact through the completion of an investigation and concerning their legal duties and responsibilities related to protecting the legal rights of children and families. In addition, HHS may provide grants to support development of risk and safety assessment tools for child protective service workers; training for mandated child abuse and neglect reporters; and improvement in the recruitment, selection, and training of volunteers in public or private child, youth, and family service organizations to prevent child abuse and neglect.

Finally, HHS is explicitly permitted to make grants or enter into contracts with various entities that provide additional supports to, among other activities, (1) establish and operate safe and family-friendly locations for court-ordered and supervised visitation between children and abusing parents and to facilitate the exchange of children for visits with noncustodial parents in domestic violence cases; (2) develop procedures for safe placement of children with kin; (3) establish or maintain a network of mutual parent support and self-help programs; (4) support respite and crisis nursery programs; (5) provide hospital-based information and referral services to parents of children with disabilities, parents of children who have been abused or neglected, and their children; and (6) support other innovative and promising programs related to preventing and treating child abuse and neglect.

The Children's Bureau typically awards grants, contracts, or cooperative agreements for its required and permitted activities near the end of the fiscal year and a list of awardees can be viewed online. ¹⁰¹

Set Asides and Earmarks in the Appropriations Process

The CAPTA "discretionary activities" account has frequently been used to fund certain set-asides and/or earmarks as directed by Congress through the appropriations process. Typically, these directives are given in the conference report or other explanatory statement accompanying the final enacted annual appropriations act and may respond to specific Administration or individual lawmaker requests, or to broader congressional concerns.

Home Visitation

For example, Congress used the appropriations process in FY2008 and FY2009 to respond to a request by the Bush Administration for additional CAPTA discretionary activities funds to

¹⁰¹ See annual discretionary grants made by the Children's Bureau (beginning with FY2000) at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/programs_fund/discretionary/2008.htm. The awardees are shown for first full year of funding, although the duration of grants is typically three to five years. Grantees listed at this webpage include those who receive funding from the CAPTA discretionary account, as well as from other accounts administered by the Children's Bureau. However, grantees funded with CAPTA dollars are identified with the Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number 93.670.

support a home visitation initiative. The Bush Administration requested (and received) \$10 million for this purpose for FY2008, and used the funding to launch the Supporting Evidence-Based Home Visitation Programs to Prevent Child Abuse and Neglect initiative. ¹⁰² For FY2009, Congress provided \$13.5 million to continue this initiative. The FY2010 budget request from the Obama Administration seeks continued funding for this initiative as well as funding for a separate and new program of grants to states to support home visitation programs for families with young children and those expecting children. ¹⁰³

Feasibility of a National Child Abuse Registry

Also as part of the FY2009 appropriations process, Congress provided that \$500,000 of the CAPTA discretionary activities funding be made available to fund a feasibility study related to a national registry of substantiated child abuse. Congress required such a study in 2006 legislation (the Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act, P.L. 109-248, Section 633) but had not provided discrete funding for the project before the FY2009 appropriations legislation (P.L. 111-8). Prior to this funding becoming available, HHS used general departmental funds to begin a feasibility study and it issued an interim report in early 2009. That report cited a number of barriers to implementation and had four main conclusions:

- potential benefits of a national child abuse and neglect registry are largely unknown and no data are available to quantify them;
- the statute provides for voluntary participation by states, and this could result in a registry that includes little information and fails to fulfill its intent;
- the statute does not permit inclusion in the registry of sufficient information to accurately identify perpetrators (information is limited to an individual's name, and because many names are common, this would result in many misidentified "perpetrators"); and
- the intent of the registry needs to be clarified (is it for child abuse and neglect investigative purposes only or may it also be used for background checks related to employment or licensing?).

The report also summarizes some issues related to "due process" that the creation of a national registry of substantiated child abuse and neglect would raise. These include differences in the level of evidence used to make decisions to substantiate a report of child abuse or neglect; the strength of hearing or appeal procedures in place locally to challenge those decisions; whether individuals included in the registry must be notified that they are included; and the implications of being included on such a registry. It asserts that "there can be no federal substitute for procedural protections at the state or local level" and, further, that "HHS believes the only feasible way to effectively and efficiently provide due process protections is to require that submitting jurisdictions certify that for cases submitted to the national registry, minimum due process protections were available to the perpetrator." ¹⁰⁴

-

 $^{^{102}}$ For FY2010, the Obama Administration requested continued funding for the initiative.

¹⁰³ For more information about the ACF home visitation initiative and other home visitation proposals in this Congress, see CRS Report R40705, *Home Visitation for Families with Young Children*, by (name redacted) and (name redacted). ¹⁰⁴ HHS, ASPE, *Interim Report to the Congress on the Feasibility of a National Child Abuse Registry*, May 2009,

HHS, ASPE, Interim Report to the Congress on the Feasibility of a National Child Abuse Registry, May 2009 available at http://aspe.hhs.gov/hsp/09/ChildAbuseRegistryInterimReport/index.shtml.

HHS has awarded the \$500,000 for the final study to Walter R. McDonald and Associates (and subcontractor ABA Center on Children and the Law) to continue work on this issue, including studying (1) how common it is for perpetrators to be listed in multiple states' child abuse registries; (2) states' interest in and concerns about participating in a national registry; (3) the data systems containing current state registries; and (4) legal issues involved and the adequacy of states' due process procedures.

Individual Requests

Finally, Congress has also frequently used the CAPTA discretionary activities account to fund specific projects in specific locations at the request of individual lawmakers. For FY2008, it directed \$1.8 million to support eight projects in eight states, and for FY2009, it directed \$2.4 million to support 12 projects in nine states. ¹⁰⁵

Children's Justice Act Grants

Grants for states to make improvements to the investigation, prosecution, and overall handling of child abuse and neglect cases are authorized under Section 107 of CAPTA. These grants are commonly referred to as "Children's Justice Act grants" because they were originally enacted as part of a 1986 law, the Children's Justice Act (Title I of P.L. 99-401). Funding for the grants is provided as an annual set-aside from the Crime Victims Fund (and is not appropriated out of the general treasury). The maximum annual set-aside for this purpose is \$20 million. Of that amount, \$17 million was made available for FY2009 for grants to all eligible states, including the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, and the four territories (Guam, American Samoa, the Northern Mariana Islands, and the U.S. Virgin Islands) and \$3 million was reserved for use by tribes. Funding provided to the states and territories is administered by HHS. Funds reserved for the tribes are administered by the Department of Justice.

Use of Funds

The purposes of these funds are to (1) improve the handling of child abuse and neglect cases, especially those involving child sexual abuse and exploitation, in a manner that limits additional trauma to the child victims; (2) improve the investigation and prosecution of child abuse and neglect cases, especially those involving child sexual abuse and exploitation; and (3) improve the handling of cases of suspected child abuse or neglect related fatalities, as well as those involving child maltreatment victims with disabilities and child maltreatment victims with serious health-related problems.

¹⁰⁵ There were no such earmarks identified in CAPTA's discretionary activities account in the FY2006 or FY2007 appropriations bills. However, for some earlier years, the earmarked funds were greater than those in the two most recent years. For example, out of the FY2004 appropriation, \$8.3 million was directed to support 25 projects in 13 states, and for FY2005, \$6.4 million was directed to support 21 projects in 12 states.

¹⁰⁶ The Crime Victims Funds was established by the Victims of Crime Act of 1984 (P.L. 98-473) and is administered by the Department of Justice. It consists primarily of fines collected from individuals convicted of federal crimes. The bulk of the funds distributed annually are provided to states for crime victim compensation and victim assistance programs. However, Section 1402(d)(2) of the Victims of Crime Act, as amended by the Child Abuse Prevention and Enforcement Act of 2000 (P.L. 106-177), provides that up to \$20 million in funds must be set aside each year to support grants authorized under CAPTA to improve investigation, prosecution, and handling of child maltreatment cases.

States must use funds received under this grant to establish a multi-disciplinary taskforce to review and evaluate state investigative, administrative, and judicial handling of child abuse and neglect cases. The task force must include professionals with knowledge and experience related to the criminal justice system and issues of child maltreatment, including court personnel (judges, attorneys, children's attorneys, and court-appointed special advocates), representatives of law enforcement, CPS agencies, and parents' groups; health and mental health professionals; parents; and individuals experienced in working with children with disabilities. The taskforce must review and evaluate state investigative, administrative, and civil and criminal judicial handling of cases of child abuse and neglect, and make certain policy and training recommendations to improve those processes.

Under HHS guidance, states are not permitted to use Children's Justice Act grants for child abuse prevention programs or treatment services but must use them to support system improvements. 107 In addition to supporting the administration and work of the taskforce, states also use Children's Justice Act grants to hold multi-disciplinary conferences; provide training and cross-training on relevant topics (e.g., forensic interviewing) or for certain individuals (e.g., mandatory reporters of child abuse or neglect, court appointed special advocates, and guardians ad litem); support administration of or provide training related to Children's Advocacy Centers; permit co-location of staff (e.g., a social worker in police station); fund time-limited demonstrations of model initiatives or programs; buy certain equipment (e.g., digital cameras); and build certain facilities (e.g., family-friendly environments for interviewing). 108

Eligibility Requirements

To be eligible to apply for Children's Justice Act grants, a state must meet all the eligibility requirements for CAPTA state grants (see "Requirements for Receipt of State Grant Funds"); establish a multi-disciplinary task force to study state administrative, judicial, and investigative practice related to child abuse and neglect cases (as described in "Use of Funds"); receive recommendations from the task force in the initial year grants are funded (and every three years thereafter) and implement those recommendations (or an alternative plan that meets the purpose of the recommendation, as determined by HHS); and annually submit an application and performance report to HHS. 109

Distribution of Funds

For FY2009, 49 states, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico were expected to receive Children's Justice Act funds (Pennsylvania did not submit an application). In addition, each of the four insular areas were expected to receive funding: American Samoa, Guam, the Northern

¹⁰⁷ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, "Availability of Fiscal Year 2009 Children's Justice Act Grants to States Under the Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act," Program Instructions, February 18, 2009 (ACYF-CB-PI-09-02), p. 7.

¹⁰⁸ Based on CRS communication with HHS, ACF.

¹⁰⁹ Each of the insular areas (American Samoa, Guam, Northern Mariana Islands, and U.S. Virgin Islands) are defined as states for purposes of this grant (Section 113 of CAPTA). However, under federal regulation (see 45 C.F.R. 97) they may each choose to receive Children's Justice Act funds using a consolidated grant application. All currently do so, and this permits them to use these (and other) program funds for broad social service purposes and exempts them from specific application requirements for receipt of the Children's Justice Act funds (e.g., appointment of a multidisciplinary taskforce).

Mariana Islands, and the U.S. Virgin Islands. The statute authorizes HHS to make grants to states but does not provide a formula or method to do this. HHS distributes the funds to states in the same manner that funds are allocated for CAPTA state grants: all eligible states that apply for the funds receive a base grant of \$50,000 and the remaining funds are distributed to each of those states based on their relative share of the child (under age 18) population. **Table 4** shows expected FY2009 distribution of funds. Because Pennsylvania did not apply for the grants, funding that would otherwise go to it is reallocated and distributed among those states that did apply.

Table 4. Estimated FY2009 Children's Justice Act Awards, By State

State	Estimated FY2009 Award
Alabama	\$271,596
Alaska	\$85,939
Arizona	\$379,349
Arkansas	\$188,167
California	\$1,900,799
Colorado	\$285,233
Connecticut	\$211,772
Delaware	\$90,560
District of Columbia	\$72,429
Florida	\$847,515
Georgia	\$549,311
Hawaii	\$106,348
Idaho	\$130,413
Illinois	\$680,973
Indiana	\$362,910
Iowa	\$190,311
Kansas	\$187,289
Kentucky	\$248,014
Louisiana	\$262,923
Maine	\$105,120
Maryland	\$317,997
Massachusetts	\$332,603
Michigan	\$532,595
Minnesota	\$298,566
Mississippi	\$201,612
Missouri	\$331,020
Montana	\$93,292
Nebraska	\$137,994
Nevada	\$180,173
New Hampshire	\$108,811
New Jersey	\$457,043
New Mexico	\$148,670
New York	\$920,461
North Carolina	\$487,395

State	Estimated FY2009 Award		
North Dakota	\$78,166		
Ohio	\$592,754		
Oklahoma	\$227,411		
Oregon	\$220,192		
Pennsylvania	\$0 ^a		
Puerto Rico	\$247,811		
Rhode Island	\$95,977		
South Carolina	\$259,048		
South Dakota	\$88,833		
Tennessee	\$340,222		
Texas	\$1,356,332		
Utah	\$211,102		
Vermont	\$75,907		
Virginia	\$410,179		
Washington	\$353,019		
West Virginia	\$126,403		
Wisconsin	\$310,597		
Wyoming	\$74,726		
Subtotal—50 States, District of Columbia and Puerto Rico	\$16,773,884		
Insular Areas (consolidated grants)			
American Samoa	\$55,037		
Guam	\$60,819		
Northern Mariana Islands	\$53,497		
U.S. Virgin Islands \$56,763			
Subtotal - Insular areas	\$226,116		
Tribal program	\$3,000,000		
TOTAL	\$20,000,000		

Source: Table prepared by Congressional Research Service.

Note: Estimates exclude an award amount for Pennsylvania because that state did not apply for these funds for FY2009. Estimates are based on a \$50,000 allotment to every remaining state and territory with the remainder distributed to those same jurisdictions based on the relative share of child population in each state (2007 Census Bureau estimates).

a. Pennsylvania did not apply for FY2009 funding under this grant program.

Funding Authorized and Appropriated Under CAPTA

The final section of this report discusses funding authorized by CAPTA and includes a table showing a history of funding appropriated under that authority (beginning with FY1992). CAPTA does not include *funding* authority for the state grants for programs relating to the investigation and prosecution of child abuse and neglect cases. As noted above, these grants, commonly

referred to as Children's Justice Act grants, are authorized in Section 107 of CAPTA. However, they are funded under an annual set-aside (maximum of \$20 million) from the Crime Victims Fund. This section of the report does not include further discussion of those grants or their funding. Instead, the funding authorization levels and appropriations described below relate only to the grants and other activities for which *funding* authority is provided in CAPTA and for which funds must be appropriated out of the general treasury.

CAPTA contains *two* separate funding authorizations, one for grants and activities under Title I (i.e., state grants and discretionary activities) and another for grants under Title II (community-based grants). Traditionally, Congress appropriates funding under these *two* funding authorizations in *three* separate accounts. As shown in **Table 5**, actual appropriations typically fall below the authorized funding level.

Title I Funding Authorization

Section 112 of CAPTA provides a "general" Title I funding authorization level, which was set at \$120 million for FY2004 and at "such sums as may be necessary" for each of FY2005-FY2008. This funding authority is currently expired but Congress appropriated \$68.3 million in funds to meet Title I CAPTA purposes for FY2009 (P.L. 111-8), and legislation pending in Congress (H.R. 3293) would appropriate a similar amount for FY2010.

Section 112 further adds that out of the total funding provided for Title I (under the general authorization of funding), HHS must make 30% available for "discretionary activities" provided for in Title I of CAPTA. In practice, however, Congress regularly overrides this statutory language by appropriating CAPTA Title I funds in two separate accounts, one for "Child Abuse State Grants" and a separate one for "Child Abuse Discretionary Activities." The latter supports research, technical assistance, and other activities required or authorized under Title I of CAPTA, along with (in most years) some projects that are consistent with CAPTA purposes and are specified during that appropriations process. ¹¹¹ Funding provided for "discretionary activities" has ranged from roughly 40% to 60% of overall Title I funding. For FY2009, funds appropriated for CAPTA's "discretionary activities" account totaled 61% of the overall Title I funding.

Title II Funding Authorization

Section 210 of CAPTA authorizes funding for Title II community-based grants to prevent child abuse and neglect. The funding authorization level for these grants was set at \$80 million for FY2004 and at such sums as may be necessary for FY2005-FY2008. This funding authority is currently expired but Congress nonetheless appropriated \$41.7 million for FY2009 (P.L. 111-8), and FY2010 appropriations legislation pending in Congress (H.R. 3293) would appropriate that same amount for FY2010.

¹¹⁰ Funds are distributed to tribes (\$3 million) and to states and territories (\$17 million). See more information at the Children's Bureau website, http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/programs_fund/state_tribal/justice_act.htm.

¹¹¹ These account names are from the official appropriations table that was included in the Explanatory Statement accompanying H.R. 1105 (which in this year has the effect of a conference agreement). See table at the end of *Division F*, (H.R. 1105, P.L. 111-8), p. 1720 at http://www.gpoaccess.gov/congress/house/appropriations/09conappro2.html.The exact names of the accounts may have varied slightly but the practice of appropriating CAPTA Title I dollars as two separate accounts is longstanding.

Table 5. Funding Authorized and Appropriated Under CAPTA, FY 1992-FY2009

"Such sums" refers to a statutory funding authorization of "such sums as may be necessary" (dollars shown in millions)

	-	TI	TLE I		TI	TLE II	TOTAL CAPTA		
		Funding Appropriated		ated					
Fiscal Year	Funding Authorized	State Grants	Discretionary Activities	Subtotal	Funding Authorized	Funding Appropriated	Funding Authorized	Funding Appropriated	
1992	\$100.0	\$20.5	\$14.6	\$35.2	\$45.0	\$5.4	\$145.0	\$40.5	
1993	such sums	\$20.4	\$16.2	\$36.6	such sums	\$5.3	such sums	\$41.9	
1994	such sums	\$22.9	\$15.9	\$38.8	such sums	\$5.3	such sums	\$44. I	
1995	such sums	\$22.9	\$15.4	\$38.3	such sums	\$31.42	such sums	\$69.7	
1996	\$100.0	\$21.0	\$14.2	\$35.2	\$66.0	\$23.0	\$166.0	\$58.2	
1997	such sums	\$21.0	\$14.2	\$35.2	such sums	\$32.8	such sums	\$68.0	
1998	such sums	\$21.0	\$14.1	\$35.1	such sums	\$32.8	such sums	\$67.9	
1999	such sums	\$21.0	\$14.1	\$35.2	such sums	\$32.8	such sums	\$68.0	
2000	such sums	\$21.0	\$18.0	\$39.1	such sums	\$32.8	such sums	\$71.9	
2001	such sums	\$21.0	\$33.2 ^b	\$54.2	such sums	\$32.8	such sums	\$87.1	
2002	expired	\$22.0	\$26.I	\$48.1	expired	\$33.4	expired	\$81.5	
2003	expired	\$21.9	\$33.8	\$55.7	expired	\$33.2	expired	\$88.9	
2004	\$120.0	\$21.9	\$34.4	\$56.3	\$80.0	\$33.2	\$200.0	\$89.5	
2005	such sums	\$27.3	\$31.6	\$58.9	such sums	\$42.9	such sums	\$101.8	
2006	such sums	\$27.0	\$25.4	\$52.5	such sums	\$42.4	such sums	\$94.9	
2007	such sums	\$27.0	\$25.8	\$52.8	such sums	\$42.4	such sums	\$95.2	
2008	such sums	\$26.5	\$37.1°	\$63.7	such sums	\$41.7	such sums	\$105.4	
2009	expired	\$26.5	\$41.8°	\$68.3	expired	\$41.7	expired	\$110.0	

Source: Table prepared by the Congressional Research Service. Parts may not sum to total due to rounding.

Note: The table does not include any funds provided for Children's Justice Act grants. The program authority for these grants is included in Section 107 (Title I) of CAPTA. However, funding is not authorized for these grants under CAPTA and they are not funded out of the general treasury. Instead, funds are reserved for these grants out of the Crime Victims Fund, as authorized by the Victims of Crime Act. (As of FY2001, the set-aside is up to \$20 million annually.)

- a. Funding increased due to consolidation of CAPTA Title II funding with other categorical prevention programs.
- b. Funding increase appears to be related to earmark projects added to this account in report language accompanying the appropriations act. Earmarks have been included on this account in most subsequent fiscal years, with the notable exceptions of FY2006 and FY2007.
- c. FY2008 funding includes \$10 million for home visitation initiative; FY2009 funding includes \$13.5 million for that home visitation initiative and \$500,000 for a feasibility study related to standards for a national registry of substantiated child abuse and neglect.

Appendix A. Scope of State Child Protective Services Work

Data in **Table A-1** are provided to suggest the scope of activity by state protective services that is related to the CAPTA directive that states have procedures to receive and respond to allegations of child abuse and neglect. The population data shown are the Census Bureau estimate of the number of children (individuals under age 18) living in each state on July 1, 2007. The FY2007 program data include the number of allegations of child abuse or neglect (referrals) received by CPS, the number of those referrals that were investigated (reports), and the number and rate of children found to be victims of abuse or neglect. The victim rate refers to the number of children who were reported to be victims of child maltreatment for every 1,000 children in the population.

Referrals and investigations typically involve more than one child. For example, on a national basis, states received 3.2 million referrals during FY2007 that alleged abuse or neglect related to an estimated 5.8 million children. CPS workers responded with an investigation, or some other assessment of the family, for 1.9 million of the referrals, and the estimated number of children involved in those investigations (or assessments) was approximately 3.5 million. Finally, the table shows the number and rate of children found to be victims in each state.

Table A-I. Child Population and Number of Child Abuse or Neglect Referrals, Investigations, and Victims Reported by States, FY2007

A blank cell indicates that state did not report usable data on the given topic for FY2007

	Child	Allegations of Child Abuse	Allegations that Received a CPS	Vict	ims
State	Population (2007)	or Neglect (Referrals)	Investigation (Reports)	Number	Rate ²
Alabama	1,123,537	30,462	18,710	9,247	8.2
Alaska	182,218	9,775	4,906	3,138	17.2
Arizona	1,669,866	33,433	33,188	4,025	2.4
Arkansas	700,537	40,184	27,846	9,847	14.1
California	9,383,924	339,303	232,297	88,319	9.4
Colorado	1,192,679	65,826	31,520	10,588	8.9
Connecticut	820,216		26,479	9,875	12.0
Delaware	205,646	7,306	5,693	2,116	10.3
District of Columbia	113,720	4,888	4,506	2,757	24.2
Florida	4,043,560	259,864	154,951	53,484	13.2
Georgia	2,531,609	63,621	48,965	35,729	14.1
Hawaii	285,694		2,527	2,075	7.3
Idaho	407,712		7,089	1,582	3.9
Illinois	3,199,159		68,101	31,058	9.7
Indiana	1,586,518	68,971	41,900	18,380	11.6
Iowa	711,403	39,847	23,093	14,051	19.8
Kansas	696,082	31,402	16,912	2,272	3.3
Kentucky	1,003,973	63,612	48,600	18,778	18.7
Louisiana	1,079,560		19,293	9,468	8.8
Maine	279,467	16,678	6,710	4,118	14.7
Maryland	1,358,797				

	Child	Allegations of Child Abuse	Allegations that Received a CPS	Victims		
State	Population (2007)	or Neglect (Referrals)	Investigation (Reports)	Number	Rateª	
Massachusetts	1,432,856	67,793	39,801	37,690	26.3	
Michigan	2,446,856					
Minnesota	1,260,282	56,581	18,993	6,847	5.4	
Mississippi	768,704	26,964	17,871	7,002	9.1	
Missouri	1,424,830	102,579	54,635	7,235	5.1	
Montana	219,498	12,852	8,699	1,886	8.6	
Nebraska	446,145	23,050	11,290	4,108	9.2	
Nevada	660,002	22,492	16,342	5,417	8.2	
New Hampshire	298,186	16,350	6,834	912	3.1	
New Jersey	2,063,789		44,606	7,543	3.7	
New Mexico	500,276	30,130	14,853	6,065	12.1	
New York	4,413,414		155,509	83,502	18.9	
North Carolina	2,217,680		66,814	25,976	11.7	
North Dakota	142,809		3,586	1,288	9.0	
Ohio	2,751,874		77,436	38,484	14.0	
Oklahoma	899,507	62,965	35,873	13,179	14.7	
Oregon	862,908	63,504	26,381	11,552	13.4	
Pennsylvania	2,786,719		23,513	4,177	1.5	
Puerto Rico	1,002,944		15,709	10,696	10.7	
Rhode Island	233,115	12,443	7,710	3,857	16.5	
South Carolina	1,059,917	27,293	18,337	12,762	12.0	
South Dakota	196,890	14,481	3,627	1,485	7.5	
Tennessee	1,471,486		62,183	16,059	10.9	
Texas	6,623,366	202,015	166,584	71,111	10.7	
Utah	816,822	32,424	20,386	13,611	16.7	
Vermont	131,353	12,327	2,564	872	6.6	
Virginia	1,826,179	58,060	30,196	6,413	3.5	
Washington	1,536,368	74,381	35,262	6,984	4.5	
West Virginia	387,381	31,813	21,962	7,109	18.4	
Wisconsin	1,321,279	54,704	26,978	7,856	5.9	
Wyoming	125,365	5,070	2,442	772	6.2	
National estimateb	74,904,677	3,220,000	2,040,000	794,000	10.6	

Source: Table prepared by the Congressional Research Service based on U.S. Census Bureau population estimates for 2007 and data included in HHS, *Child Maltreatment 2007* (April 2009).

Victim rate refers to the number of children who were reported to be victims of child maltreatment for every 1,000 children in the population.

b. Not all states reported data in each category. National estimates for referrals, reports, and victims are from *Child Maltreatment 2007* and derived by HHS based on average number of referrals, reports, or victims provided among all states that did report data. The total number of referrals reported was 2,085,443; of investigations, 1,860,262, and of victims, 753,357.

Appendix B. Child, Family, and Caregiver Risk Factors Among Children In Families Investigated for Child Abuse or Neglect

The National Survey of Child and Adolescent Well-Being (NSCAW), required by Congress under Section 429 of the Social Security Act, included a nationally representative sample of children in families investigated for abuse or neglect . **Table B-1** shows selected developmental and other risk factors among those children compared to children in the general population. Findings refer to children in families investigated for child abuse or neglect, as a whole, and without regard to whether an abuse or neglect finding was substantiated by the CPS investigator.

Table B-I. Selected Developmental and Other Risk Factors for Children

Among preschool aged children ^a , risk for poor scores on standardized measures related to:	Children in families investigated for abuse or neglect	Children in the general population
Neurological development or impairment	53%	14%
Cognitive development	31%	2.5%
Language skills development	14%	2.5%
Problem behavior	27%	17%
Among school age children ^a , percentage at risk for poor scores on standardized measures related to: Verbal and non-verbal intelligence scores	5%	2%
Reading achievement	5%	2%
Math achievement	12%	2.5%
Problem behavior (caregiver assessment) ^b	45%	17%
Social skills	38%	16%
Living skills	10%	2.5%

Source: Table prepared by Congressional Research Service based on NSCAW Research Brief 3 (undated). For children in families investigated for abuse or neglect, findings are based on survey data collected in 1999-2000.

- a. Specific pre-school or school age groups studied varied by measure used but the share of general population children, that is, the "normative sample," was based on a comparable age group in each case.
- b. Thirty-six percent of the youth in investigated families (ages 11-15) gave reports of their own behavior that indicated clinical or borderline problem behavior.

Table B-2 presents NSCAW findings concerning family and caregiver risk factors among the families of all children investigated for abuse and neglect, as well as by the level of services received following the investigation. These findings are based on the initial wave of data collection in the survey which was fielded in 1999-2000.

Table B-2. Families Where a Child Abuse or Neglect Investigation Occurred By Presence of Certain Risk Factors and Post-investigation Service Level

As assessed by the CPS investigative caseworker

	_	Post-	investigation S erv	ice Level
Family/Caregiver Risk Factors	All Families Subject to an Investigation	Families Receiving No Services	Families Receiving In-Home Services	Families Where Child Was Placed Out of the Home
Prior report of maltreatment	51%	46%	57%	66%
Trouble paying for basic necessities	24%	16%	34%	47%
High stress in family	52%	43%	66%	73%
Low social support	31%	24%	39%	53%
Only one supportive caregiver in the family	54%	52%	54%	67%
Poor parenting skills	33%	20%	47%	79%
Unrealistic expectations of child	17%	9%	28%	44%
Excessive/inappropriate discipline	8%	5%	13%	19%
Serious mental health problem	15%	9%	22%	36%
Intellectual/cognitive impairment	7%	5%	9%	12%
Active drug abuse	9%	4%	12%	37%
Active alcohol abuse	8%	3%	13%	29%
Recent history of arrest	12%	8%	16%	34%
Active domestic violence (against primary caregiver)	13%	11%	15%	25%
History of domestic violence (against primary caregiver)	30%	25%	36%	44%
History of abuse or neglect (against primary caregiver)	22%	15%	32%	39%

Source: Table compiled by the Congressional Research Service based on data included in the National Survey of Child and Adolescent Well-Being, CPS Sample Component, Wave I Data Analysis Report, April 2005, Chapter 4.

Note: Proportions shown in the source document were weighted percentages, and in this report, they are additionally rounded to the nearest whole number.

Appendix C. Trends in Reported Child Abuse and Neglect Victims and Types of Abuse or Neglect Experienced

Table C-1 shows national estimates of children subject to an investigation for child abuse or neglect and those found to be victims of child abuse or neglect. Although these data were all reported under the National Child Abuse and Neglect Data Systems (NCANDS), the quality and kind of data reported varies significantly by year. In the earlier years, national estimates may necessarily have been derived based on information reported by a limited number of states. In more recent years, the quality of the data reported has improved and nearly all states reported these data. Therefore, estimates for more recent years may be more accurate than those for earlier years.

Table C-1. National Estimates of Children Who Were the Subject of Child Maltreatment Investigations and Those Found to Be Victims, 1990-2007

Rates shown refer to the number of children who were the subject of an investigation, or the number of child victims, as shown in the respective column heading, per 1,000 children in the population

Year	Child Population	Children Who Were Subject of an Investigation	Rate of Children Who Were the Subject of an Investigation	Children Found to Be Victims of Maltreatment	Rate of Child Maltreatment Victims
1990	64,163,000	2,316,000	36.1	860,000	13.4
1991	65,070,000	2,486,000	38.2	911,000	14.0
1992	66,074,000	2,722,000	41.2	998,000	15.1
1993	66,962,000	2,819,000	42.1	1,025,000	15.3
1994	67,803,000	2,855,000	42.1	1,031,000	15.2
1995	68,437,000	2,888,000	42.2	1,006,000	14.7
1996	69,022,000	2,899,000	42.0	1,015,000	14.7
1997	69,528,000	2,913,000	41.9	953,000	13.7
1998	69,872,000	2,939,000	42.1	904,000	12.9
1999	70,199,000	2,878,000	41.0	828,000	11.8
2000	72,343,000	3,038,000	43.2	883,000	12.2
2001	72,604,000	3,136,000	43.9	905,000	12.5
2002	73,979,000	3,240,000	43.8	910,000	12.3
2003	74,079,000	3,430,000	46.3	904,000	12.2
2004	74,262,000	3,572,000	48.1	891,000	12.0
2005	74,463,000	3,597,000	48.3	900,000	12.1
2006	74,686,000	3,577,000	47.9	904,000	12.1
2007	74,905,000	3,536,000	47.2	794,000	10.6

Source: Table prepared by the Congressional Research Service based on data from National Child Abuse and Neglect Data System (NCANDS) as shown in Table 3-3, *Child Maltreatment 2004* (1990-2001), Table 3-2 *Child Maltreatment 2006* (for 2002), and *Child Maltreatment 2007* (for 2003-2007).

Notes: Estimates are for the 50 states and the District of Columbia through 200; beginning with 2002, they also include Puerto Rico. Data were reported for the calendar year through 2002, and for the fiscal year thereafter. Estimates are shown rounded to the nearest 1,000.

Table C-2 shows trends in the share of child maltreatment victims experiencing certain types of maltreatment. In every year before FY2007, children that experienced more than one type of maltreatment were included in each type of maltreatment. However, data for FY2007 are not comparable to data provided for earlier years because of a change in how this information was reported by HHS. For example, before FY2007, if a child experienced both sexual abuse and physical abuse, he or she would be represented in both maltreatment categories. Beginning with FY2007, HHS reported a category for children experiencing "multiple maltreatments" (two or more types of abuse or neglect) and every other category includes children that were reported as experiencing that type of maltreatment only.

Table C-2. Share of Children Reported as Experiencing Maltreatment, by Type

Year	Neglecta	Physical Abuse	Sexual Abuse	Psychological Maltreatment	Multiple Maltreatments	Other	Unknown/ Missing
2000	62.7%	19.4%	10.1%	7.7%	[See note]	16.6%	0.3%
2001	59.2%	18.6%	9.6%	6.8%	[See note]	19.5%	0.3%
2002	60.6%	18.6%	9.9%	6.5%	[See note]	18.9%	0.2%
2003	63.6%	18.4%	9.7%	6.4%	[See note]	14.9%	0.2%
2004	61.1%	17.1%	9.5%	7.1%	[See note]	14.4%	4.1%
2005	64.8%	16.6%	9.3%	7.1%	[See note]	14.3%	1.1%
2006	66.3%	16.0%	8.8%	6.6%	[See note]	15.1%	1.2%
2007	59.0%	10.8%	7.6%	4.2%	13.1%	4.2%	0.1%

Source: Table prepared by the Congressional Research Service based on NCANDS data as reported by states and provided by HHS.

Note: For FY2000 through FY2006, the sum of percentages equals more than 100 because children for whom more than one maltreatment type was reported were included in more than one maltreatment-type category. For FY2007, a single maltreatment type is reported for all children, except that children who were reported with more than one maltreatment type are included in the category "multiple maltreatments."

a. In this table, the category of "neglect" includes the subset of neglect reported as "medical neglect."

Appendix D. Children Who Receive Postinvestigation Services

Table D-1 uses state reported data to estimate the number of children who received services following an investigation or assessment. Not all states reported these data; the estimates should therefore be treated as rough.

Table D-I. National Estimates of Children Served Following an Investigation of Child Abuse or Neglect

To be counted, the removal or in-home service must have occurred within 90 days of the investigation

CHILDREN FOUND TO BE VICTIMS

						All Child Victims				
Year	All Child Victims	Removed to Foster Care		Served in Home		Serve	ed	Not Ser	ved	
2002	910,000	172,000	18.9%	363,000	39.9%	535,000	58.8%	375,000	41.2%	
2003	905,000	167,000	18.5%	358,000	39.6%	525,000	58.0%	380,000	42.0%	
2004	892,000	170,000	19.0%	359,000	40.2%	528,000	59.2%	364,000	40.8%	
2005	900,000	196,000	21.8%	346,000	38.4%	542,000	60.2%	358,000	39.8%	
2006	905,000	195,000	21.5%	338,000	37.4%	533,000	58.9%	372,000	41.1%	
2007	794,000	164,000	20.7%	333,000	41.9%	497,000	62.6%	297,000	37.4%	

CHILDREN NOT FOUND TO BE VICTIMS

						All "Non-Victims"			
Year	All "Non- Victims"	Removed to Foster Care		Served in Home		Serve	ed	Not Sen	ved
2002	2,330,000	96,000	4.1%	620,000	26.6%	716,000	30.7%	1,615,000	69.3%
2003	2,521,000	104,000	4.1%	644,000	25.6%	748,000	29.7%	1,773,000	70.3%
2004	2,684,000	104,000	3.9%	739,000	27.5%	843,000	31.4%	1,841,000	68.6%
2005	2,694,000	121,000	4.5%	749,000	27.8%	816,000	32.3%	1,824,189	67.7%
2006	2,669,000	119,000	4.4%	690,000	25.9%	809,000	30.3%	1,860,075	69.7%
2007	2,742,000	104,000	3.8%	757,000	27.6%	861,000	31.4%	1,881,000	68.6%

Source: Table prepared by the Congressional Research Service based on NCANDS data reported by states and provided or published by HHS.

Note: Data were reported by states for the calendar year in 2002 but for the fiscal year thereafter. Not all states (defined to include the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico) reported these data. Therefore, the numbers shown represent national estimates made by CRS that are based on the share of children receiving post-investigation follow-up services in those states that did report these data.

Author Contact Information

(name redacted) Specialist in Social Policy [redacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.